THE EFFECTS OF THE AFFORDABLE CARE ACT MEDICAID EXPANSION ON MENTAL HEALTH SYMPTOMS

by

KAYLEE ANN RANCK

(Under the Direction of Patryk Babiarz)

ABSTRACT

This study analyzes the effects the Affordable Care Act's (ACA) Medicaid expansion had on mental health symptoms. Data from adults aged 18-64 years in the nationally representative Panel Study of Income Dynamics 2009-2019 waves were used in a difference-in-differences analysis to compare uninsurance, Medicaid insurance, self-reported life satisfaction, self-reported psychological distress, severe psychological distress, and health professional diagnosis depression, anxiety, and permanent memory loss. The study examines individuals in four income categories, focusing on those within 100-138% the federal poverty level in states that opted for Medicaid expansion. Key findings show a reduction of 13 percentage points in the probability of being uninsured (p = <.001), an increase of 12.6 percentage points in the probability of being covered by Medicaid (p = <.001), and a 3.4 percentage point increase self-reported life satisfaction. Men had a marginally significant 3.2 percentage point decrease in the probability of having severe psychological distress (p = <.1). There was a 1 percentage point increase in the probability of being diagnosed with depression and a 2.5 percentage point probability of an anxiety diagnoses by a health care professional (p=<.05). Self-reported psychological distress resulted in no significant change score change after the implementation of Medicaid expansion

for those in the 100-138% federal poverty level. The evidence from this study implies the solution to improving mental health through public policies is complex and requires a multi-faceted approach. Further research is needed to develop a broader understanding of impact of Medicaid expansion on mental health.

INDEX WORDS: Medicaid expansion, Affordable Care Act, Difference-in-difference,Mental Health, K6 Scale, Panel Study of Income Dynamics, Health Insurance, Life satisfaction,Depression, Anxiety

THE EFFECTS OF THE AFFORDABLE CARE ACT MEDICAID EXPANSION ON MENTAL HEALTH SYMPTOMS

by

KAYLEE ANN RANCK

BA, Pacific University, 2005 MEd, Montana State University, 2009

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

ATHENS, GEORGIA

2022

© 2022

Kaylee Ranck

All Rights Reserved

THE EFFECTS OF THE AFFORDABLE CARE ACT MEDICAID EXPANSION ON MENTAL HEALTH SYMPTOMS

by

KAYLEE RANCK

Major Professor: Committee: Patryk Babiarz Kim Skobba Swarn Chatterjee

Electronic Version Approved:

Ron Walcott Vice Provost for Graduate Education and Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia December 2022

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The decision to pursue a doctoral degree was not made lightly, knowing I'd leave behind the comfort and predictability of my home state, close family and friends, and routine. The journey has vacillated between emotional failures, earned successes, personal evolutions, and professional developments. The conferral of this degree is the beginning of my next professional season. I owe a series of gratitude for all those who supported my circuitous journey to my doctorate. First, much appreciation, gratitude, and love to my partner in life, Mike Stanley. We met and married during this crazy adventure, and you have been a pillar of support through the challenges and an embrace for all the successes. This accomplishment is partly yours. To my stepchildren, Jessika and Jet, who have shared the journey, a sincere thank you for your support and grace as I navigated our new life. A sincere tribute of gratitude for my father, Tom Ranck, who tirelessly supported me through the years, gently asking when my dissertation would be complete. Thank you to my brother, Andrew Ranck, for sharing this PhD journey with me. You will soon join the "Dr. Rancks". Much love to my brothers Aaron and Adam for supporting me through this process. A heavenly thank you to my mom, Lanakay, who would've been my biggest cheerleader.

Thank you to my major advisor, Dr. Patryk Babiarz, for the countless hours of journal review, repeated explanations of empirical techniques, and honest feedback. You provided encouragement to continue when I considered leaving the program. Thank you to my committee member, Dr. Kim Skobba, for the numerous hours of mentorship, the safe space for vulnerability, and for believing in me. Thank you, Dr. Chatterjee, for your contributions to my academic success and supporting my journey. Thank you to all the professors, support staff, and peers that have been essential to my success.

Dr. Timi Jorgensen, I am so grateful you chose me to be your first friend at UGA. You've provided an ear, a shoulder to cry on, and a place to laugh and share joy. Stephanie Ramsey, thank you for the countless miles on the driveway that kept me sane and connected through COVID. Thank you to my Montana friends, Stephanie Cunningham, Jerri Weston, Dr. Catherine Johnson, Mary DeGraw, for being a solid part of my life and always cheering me on. Amy Evans, thank you for being my research soul sister and dirt church riding partner. Jason Smith, you hold a very special place for being an ear, a running buddy, and my wedding officiant during this journey. Dr. Kenneth John White Jr., we have come full circle, you took me to lunch when I looked at graduate programs and now you can see me graduate. Lizl Kruger, thank you for being my roommate, teaching me patience, listening to my struggles, being mama Lizl to the fur babies and for being part of my family. Eric Murphy and Maria Carrelli, thank you for the hospitality. You opened your home and welcomed me weekly. I will cherish the fond memories of staying with y'all, the pups, and Bitty. Thank you to Hilary Fiorella and Linds Lewis for your flexibility to make this dream a reality.

For those who I failed to mention, it is not intentional. A huge thank you to the friends who have supported me through failures, self-doubts, and who have joined in my perseverance, tenacity, grit, and achievements. You all own a part of this degree.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 PURPOSE OF STUDY
1.2 RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONS TO CURRENT LITERATURE4
1.3 SUMMARY6
2 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE IN THE UNITED STATES
2.2 AFFORDABLE CARE ACT
2.3 MEDICAID EXPANSION
2.4 HEALTH INSURANCE EVIDENCE FROM PREVIOUS RESEARCH13
2.5 SEMINAL STUDIES ON EFFECTS OF MEDICAID EXPANSION15
2.6 MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS AND ACCESS TO INSURANCE17
2.7 DEPRESSIVE SYMPTOMS AND DOCTOR DIAGNOSISED MENTAL
ILLNESS AND HEALTH INSURANCE STATUS
2.8 INDIVIDUAL AND SOCIETAL COSTS OF UNTREATED MENTAL
HEALTH DISORDERS
2.8 CONCEPTUAL MECHANISMS

3	METHODOLOGY	25
	3.1 DATA AND SAMPLE	25
	3.2 VARIABLES	25
	3.3 EMPIRICAL MODEL	29
4	RESULTS	32
	4.1 DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	32
	4.2 MULTIVARIATE REGRESSION RESULTS	34
5	CONCLUSION	62
	5.1 SUMMARY	62
RI	EFERENCES	68
RI	EFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Page
Table 2.1: STATE MEDICAID EXPANSION STATUS 10
Table 3.1: VARIABLES TO DETERMINE THE IMPACT OF HEALTH INSURANCE ON
MENTAL HEALTH
Table 4.1 DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS
Table 4.2: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE IS UNINSURED36
Table 4.3: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE IS MEDICAID INSURED
Table 4.4: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE IS LIFE
SATISFACTION43
Table 4.5: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE IS K6 SCORE45
Table 4.6: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE IS SEVERE
PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS K6 SCORE >13
Table 4.7: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE IS DOCTOR
DIAGNOSED PSYCHOLOGICAL CONDITION
Table 4.8: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE IS DOCTOR
DIAGNOSED DEPRESSION
Table 4.9: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE IS DOCTOR
DIAGNOSED ANXIETY
Table 4.10: OLS REGRESSION RESULTS, DEPENDENT VARIABLE DIAGNOSED WITH
PSYCHOLOGICAL DISORDER60

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Having affordable health insurance is a key determinant of health outcomes and an important mechanism for preserving financial stability for those with chronic conditions (Baicker et al., 2013; Hadley, 2007; Keeler, 1983; Sloss et al., 1987). Prior to 2010, nearly 18% of the United States population lacked health insurance (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2022b). Lack of health insurance can create financial problems due to the challenges of paying off medical debt (Hamel, Liz et al., 2016). Lack of health insurance can also result in strong cumulative negative impact on adult health outcomes (Quesnel-Vallée, 2004). Uninsured and underinsured individuals are more likely to forgo preventative health screenings and not seek treatment for chronic health conditions (Liang et al., 2019). The uninsured are also more likely to delay or not fill prescriptions, end up in the hospital for preventable ailments, and suffer higher mortality rates (Castaneda & Saygili, 2016; Christopher et al., 2016; Usher et al., 2018). Uninsured individuals often are low- income, despite most having at least one person employed full-time within the family (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2022b).

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (ACA) was enacted to reduce the number of uninsured Americans (Cohen et al., 2017). The passing of the ACA provided access to health insurance through several methods, including national or state-run exchanges, premium subsidies for those who qualify, and through Medicaid expansion for states opting for expansion. National and state run-exchanges allowed individuals to shop and select a health insurance plan to fit their needs. Subsidies are provided to those who qualify based on annual income levels.

These subsidies offset the total cost of health care premiums. In states that opted for Medicaid expansion, those who qualified based on income became eligible for Medicaid. Increasing access to health insurance had a profound impact, reducing the number of uninsured in the U.S. by about half between 2010 and 2016. According to the National Center for Health Statistics, 9% of individuals of all ages were uninsured in 2016, 20 million fewer than in 2010 prior to the Affordable Care Act (Cohen et al., 2017). Previous studies provided compelling evidence that ACA Medicaid expansion led to significant insurance coverage gains among those living in newly expanding states (Buchmueller et al., 2021; Courtemanche et al., 2017; Cowan & Hao, 2021). Increased access to health insurance is related to improvements in preventive health care through health screenings, diagnostic follow-ups, and treatment (Simon et al., 2017; Sommers et al., 2017). Significantly, the Affordable Care Act also increased access to mental health services, allowing for treatment that was previously expensive and difficult to access for people without insurance. With access to medical treatment, mental illness symptoms and overall impacts can be mitigated (Marcus & Olfson, 2010).

The expansion of access to mental health services through the Affordable Care Act addressed an important gap in the U.S. healthcare system. Approximately 20% of the adult population suffers from mental illness disorders in the United States (Mental Health America, 2020; National Institute on Mental Health, 2022). Having a mental illness, especially serious mental illness, has a negative effect on individual well-being, physical health, employment status, educational attainment, and overall costs to society. Beyond the costs to the individual, nearly \$519 billion is spent annually on healthcare expenditures, disability payments and diminished productivity in the workforce for those with mental illness in the United States (Insel et al., 2015; Robson & Gray, 2007). Mental health can be effectively treated through talk therapy, psychotropic medications, and intensive psychopharmacological treatments, which is the interaction between medication effects and psychosocial treatments, such as talk therapy (Olfson, 2016). Mental illness is particularly prevalent among lower-income, uninsured or underinsured individuals (Rowan et al., 2013). For those individuals who sought care and did not receive further treatment, it was often due to the inability to pay for treatment (Rowan et al., 2013). Given the significant economic and social impacts of having a mental illness and the success of treatment, it is of interest to policy makers to consider how access to free or reducedcost health insurance may impact those who suffer from a mental illness and reduce the prevalence of symptoms.

1.1 PURPOSE OF STUDY

The purpose of this study is to determine the impact of the Affordable Care Act on the psychological and mental well-being of Americans. More specifically, I investigate how the increased access to Medicaid insurance brought about by the Affordable Care Act impacted various measures of mental health. Using data from the 2009-2019 waves of the Panel Survey of Income Dynamics (PSID), I measure changes in self-reported life satisfaction and self-reported psychological distress (K6 scale), as well as the onsets of doctor-diagnosed psychiatric conditions such as memory loss, depression, anxiety. I examined these scores following the implementation of Medicaid expansion at the state level. I identify the effects of interest by grouping PSID respondents based on different federal poverty threshold levels and by examining the differential effect of the state-level expansion of Medicaid. Given that individuals with incomes within 100-138% of the federal poverty level constitute the primary beneficiaries of insurance expansion, I expect to find both statistically and quantitatively significant variations in

the psychological well-being measures for this group, relative to respondents in other income groups.

1.2 RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONS TO CURRENT LITERATURE

The findings of this study augment the body of literature on the impact of the Affordable Care Act on mental health outcomes. This will be accomplished by analyzing self-reported life satisfaction, self-reported psychological distress indicator (K6 scale), and doctor diagnosed psychological disorders, namely depression, anxiety, memory loss, and health insurance status using a difference-in-differences technique among PSID respondents from waves 2009-2019. The research is guided by the following objectives:

- 1) Describe the respondents' mean self-reported life satisfaction, psychological distress, and percentages of those diagnosed with psychological conditions
- Evaluate the effect of living in a state that opted in for Medicaid expansion on being uninsured after the implementation of the expansion
- Evaluate the effect of living in a state that opted in for Medicaid expansion on the following variables of interest: self-reported life satisfaction, self-reported psychiatric distress levels, and being doctor diagnosed with a psychological condition including, depression, anxiety, and memory loss
- Estimate the effects of Medicaid expansion on the variables of interest (described above) specifically for males and females

In addition to these objectives, the results of this research will inform public insurance policy makers and academic researchers concerned with the impacts of health insurance on mental health outcomes. This study adds to the body of scholarly literature on health care reforms, health care utilization, and health outcomes. More specially, the research contributes to the understanding of how the ACA's Medicaid expansion influences mental health, as defined by the dependent variables. (Levy, Helen & Meltzer, David, 2004) note that many studies analyzing causal effects between health insurance and health outcomes fall short because the observed correlations between insurance and good health may be due to contributing factors that are unobservable. That is, it is difficult to determine how health insurance relates to health status are also related to an individual's health insurance coverage (Levy & Meltzer, 2008). Levy and Metzer (2008) refer to the "endogeniety problem", which are common among what they label as observational studies:

Most of these studies find a positive correlation between health insurance coverage and health. Unfortunately, we cannot rely on such approaches to address the endogeneity problem; unobservable differences between the insured and the uninsured may drive the observed differences in health outcomes. Because of the potential for confounding unobservables, we cannot count on observational studies to provide insight into the causal effect of health insurance on health (p. 401).

The authors conclude that utilizing experimental or quasi-experimental research design can better determine the effectiveness of policy related to health insurance. Previous studies looking to determine the effectiveness of the ACA on mental health outcomes use only self-reported health outcomes, typically from Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System or National Health Interview Survey data, and do not include specific medically diagnosed mental health conditions (Lee & Porell, 2020; Margerison et al., 2020; McMorrow et al., 2017). Through this quasiexperimental study, I will add to the body of literature on the impact of Medicaid expansion by utilizing a difference in difference analysis for both self-reported mental health status as well as healthcare professional diagnosis of a mental health condition.

1.3 SUMMARY

The effect of the Affordable Care Act on increased access to health insurance through Medicaid expansion and individual mental health outcomes are the primary focus of this study. Individuals will be compared over time with regards to their health insurance status and selfreported mental health symptoms as well as medical professional diagnoses of mental health conditions.

The dissertation is organized as follows: Chapter 2 provides a detailed review of the academic literature that addresses the role of health insurance in health outcomes. Chapter 3 details the study's research methodology to determine if there is an effect on mental health symptoms with the implementation of the Affordable Care Act. The results from the analysis are presented in Chapter 4. Limitations, implications for the research and policy development, and suggestions for future research are presented in Chapter 5.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE IN THE UNITED STATES

Health insurance access has long been part of the political and economic landscape of American families. Unlike many other industrialized nations, the United States has a predominately private health insurance market which makes access challenging especially for those who are not covered by employer-subsidized plans or who are ineligible for governmental sponsored programs, namely those for children, the elderly, or the disabled. An individual is covered by private insurance if the coverage is provided by an employer or is purchased directly from the insurance company. This contrasts with those who are covered by a public plan such as Medicaid or Medicare. For many adults, private health insurance is too costly and governmental sponsored programs are unavailable due to strict acceptance criteria and limited funding, making access to health care challenging for millions of Americans. In 2010, prior to the enactment of the ACA, 48.6 million individuals were uninsured (Martinez & Cohen, Robin A., 2012). As of 2016, the number of uninsured individuals dropped to 27 million (Tolbert et al., 2019). People of color are more likely to be uninsured when compared to non-Hispanic whites. A 2018 Kaiser Family Foundation survey report found that 45% of uninsured individuals indicated high premium costs as the key factor in forgoing health insurance coverage (Tolbert et al., 2019). The report stated 70% of those who were employed were not offered health insurance by their employers. Lack of health insurance can put an individual's financial well-being at risk. Uninsured individuals are more likely to suffer financial hardships due to medical bills and may

be forced to use savings, forgo paying necessities, face collections or bankruptcy (Kirzinger, Ashley & Munana, Cailey, 2019). Individuals who suffer from chronic illnesses (i.e. depression, anxiety, diabetes, etc.) may be at risk of employment instability, loss of income, and ultimately the loss of employment sponsored health insurance (Pollack & Kronebusch, 2008).

2.2 AFFORDABLE CARE ACT

Despite health insurance being a topic for U.S. policy discussion for nearly a century, it was not until 1965 when President Johnson enacted a law implementing Medicare and Medicaid, the first national health legislation (United States Senate, n.d.). Noting the groundbreaking importance of the legislation, President Johnson stated: "It is recognized for a long time that government should accept some of the responsibility for economically needy persons, including their medical care. It might be assumed that in the future the care made available for such persons will continue to improve in score and quality" (Follman, Joseph F., 1963). President Johnson's assumption that healthcare would improve, health insurance would remain unobtainable to many Americans due to expensive premiums, pre-existing conditions and limited state funded health insurance until the Affordable Care Act passed nearly 50 years later.

In 2010, Congress enacted the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) in 2010 to minimize health disparities and expand access to health insurance. Initiated by the Obama administration, the ACA was a cornerstone of his presidency. The passing of the ACA required a great deal of compromise from political leaders and stakeholders (Oberlander, 2010). In its early draft, the ACA was meant to provide all uninsured individuals with a form of universal health insurance. However, this proposed legislation met with serious opposition from political leaders. Given the history of health reform in the United States, this opposition was not surprising to its supporters. Over the last 75 years, there have been many efforts from American presidents and their administrations to provide health insurance for the general population. The Obama administration learned from previous attempts to enact federal health reform and developed tactics to ensure adoption of the legislation (Oberlander, 2009). To ensure the passing of the bill, additional funds were funneled to Medicaid for states that supported the passing of the ACA.

The passing of the ACA changed the landscape of health insurance in the United States in two main categories: 1) through federal subsidies and 2) sweeping changes to the health insurance market regulation. Federal subsidies include federal financial support for Medicaid expansion and health insurance subsidies for individuals and families earning 400% or below the federal poverty level to be purchased via an insurance marketplace. The health insurance market changes included 1) establishing ten essential health benefits; 2) requiring no-cost preventative health screenings; 3) increasing the age limit for children to remain on their parents' insurance plan; 4) removing exclusions for pre-existing conditions; and 5) ending yearly and lifetime dollar limits for essential health benefits (Blumenthal & Abrams, 2020). These changes made to the funding and regulating health insurance have decreased the number of individuals without health insurance.

2.3 MEDICAID EXPANSION

The three main goals of ACA are to reduce the number of uninsured individuals, expand Medicaid to those below 138% the federal poverty level and reduce the overall cost of health care (U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, n.d.). In passing the ACA, the federal government offered states additional funding to expand Medicaid. This additional funding was meant to help fund individuals below the 138% poverty level to give them access to Medicaid where they would have previously been ineligible. States could opt in for Medicaid expansion but were not required to do so. Table 2.1 shows the 40 states, including the District of Columbia, that have opted for Medicaid expansion (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2022a). States that chose to not expand Medicaid often cited future cost concerns as the main reason to not opt for expansion despite the evidence for this result being incomplete or misrepresented (Hall, 2018). This regulation and state self-selection provides quasi-experimental conditions to determine the impact of Medicaid expansion (access to health insurance) by comparing the differences in health outcomes within individuals between states that opted for the expansion and nonexpansion states.

States could opt in for Medicaid expansion starting in 2009. By 2014, the federal government fully funded the Medicaid expansion. The expansion allowed federal dollars to be used to increase Medicaid health insurance coverage for those who fall between 100 and 138 percent the national poverty level. Previous research has investigated the overall effectiveness of Medicaid expansion on the reduction of uninsured individuals. Expansion accounts for 60% of the reduction in uninsured individuals (Frean et al., 2017). Prior to the implementation of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) in 2014, over 40 million Americans were uninsured.

TABLE 2.1

State	Expansion	Date of Expansion	Expansion Study	for	this
Alabama	Not Adopted	NA	Ν		
Alaska	Adopted	9/1/2015	Y		

State Medicaid Expansion Status

Arizona	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Arkansas	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
California	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Colorado	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Connecticut	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Delaware	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
District of Columbia	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Florida	Not Adopted	NA	N
Georgia	Not Adopted	NA	N
Hawaii	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Idaho	Adopted	1/1/2020 (enrollment 11/1/2019)	N
Illinois	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Indiana	Adopted	2/1/2015	Y
Iowa	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Kansas	Not Adopted	NA	Ν
Kentucky	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Louisiana	Adopted	7/1/2016	Y
Maine	Adopted	1/10/2019 retroactive to 7/2/2018	N
Maryland	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Massachusetts	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Michigan	Adopted	4/1/2014	Y
Minnesota	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Mississippi	Not Adopted	NA	N

Missouri	Adopted	10/1/2021 retroactive to 7/1/2021	N
Montana	Adopted	1/1/2016	Y
Nebraska	Adopted	10/1/2020	Ν
Nevada	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
New Hampshire	Adopted	8/15/2014	Y
New Jersey	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
New Mexico	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
New York	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
North Carolina	Not Adopted	NA	N
North Dakota	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Ohio	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Oklahoma	Adopted	7/1/2021	Ν
Oregon	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Pennsylvania	Adopted	1/1/2015	Y
Rhode Island	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
South Carolina	Not Adopted	NA	N
South Dakota	Adopted	Not Implemented	Ν
Tennessee	Not Adopted	NA	N
Texas	Not Adopted	NA	N
Utah	Adopted	1/1/2020	Ν
Vermont	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
Virginia	Adopted	1/1/2019 enrollment 11/1/2018	Ν
Washington	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y
West Virginia	Adopted	1/1/2014	Y

Wisconsin	Not Adopted	NA	Ν
Wyoming	Not Adopted	NA	Ν

Note. Adapted from *Status of state Medicaid Expansion decisions: Interactive map.* (2022) https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map/

2.4 HEALTH INSURANCE EVIDENCE FROM PREVIOUS RESEARCH

Several studies have highlighted positive economic and health outcomes that result from having access to healthcare insurance. As noted by Levy and Meltzer (2008) counting on observational studies to better understand the true impact of health insurance on economic and health outcomes is not enough in making a case for health insurance. Rather, citing studies that use a randomized control trial, the gold standard, is required to determine causal inference. Prior to the implementation of the ACA there were three large scale experiments that offered researchers an exogenous variation to determine individuals' responses to a policy change. The three experiments include the RAND Health Insurance Experiment conducted from 1974 to 1982, the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment conducted in 2008, and the Accelerated benefits Demonstration conducted from 2007-2010.

The RAND Health Insurance Experiment (1971-1982) was a large-scale study funded by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare (which is now called the Department of Health and Human Services) and is considered the largest health policy study in U.S. history (Brook et al., 2006). The study recruited 2,750 families who were then randomly assigned to one of five types of health insurance plans, which provided either free health insurance or one of the several insurance plans requiring varied copayments (Brook et al., 2006). The participants were aged 14-61 and did not have a disability. The intent of the study was to measure the effect of cost sharing on use of health services and consequences for health (Brook et al., 2006). The RAND Health Insurance Experiment showed positive impacts on individuals' health outcomes, reduced health related expenditures, decreased financial distress, and improvements in overall health, including the prevalence of serious symptoms among poor individuals receiving free insurance (Brook et al., 2006).

The Oregon Health Insurance Experiment was "a landmark study examining the effect of expanding public health insurance on health care use, health outcomes, financial strain, and the well-being of low-income adults" (Baicker et al., n.d.). The study used a lottery system to provide low-income adults in Oregon the chance to be selected for its Medicaid program. The purpose of the lottery was to provide a randomized sample to study the impact of Medicaid coverage using a control group (individuals not selected through the lottery) and a treatment group (lottery winners) (Finkelstein et al., 2012). The study provided better understanding of individual usage and outcomes of Medicaid services, particularly individual care usage, financial strain associated with medical care costs, and health status in relation to public health insurance expansion (Finkelstein et al., 2012). Ultimately, Finkelstein et al. found after the first year of implementation individuals indicated an increase in usage of medical services, resulted in less debt, fewer bills sent to collections, and reduced rates of depression and overall better self-reported health status but didn't have a statistically significant effect on physical health measures.

The Accelerated Benefits Demonstration project was a study funded by the Social Security Administration to test early access to health care and health outcomes among new Social Security Disability Insurance recipients (Michalopoulos et al., 2011). The study provided health benefits and specific employment programs to newly entitled Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) recipients. Participants were randomly assigned to one of three groups: 1) a group with access to health care benefits designed for the project; 2) a group with access to these health care benefits plus voluntary services to help them navigate the health care system and return to work; and 3) a control group that did not receive the health care insurance benefits or support. The findings from this study suggested access to health insurance among low-income individuals results in an increase in health care use, a reduction in personal funds used for medical expenses, and an expressed a reduction in unmet medical needs (Michalopoulos et al., 2011).

2.5 SEMINAL STUDIES ON THE EFFECTS OF MEDICAID EXPANSION

A body of research has examined the effects of Medicaid expansion on health. (Wherry & Miller, 2016) researched changes in health insurance coverage, health care utilization and health outcomes due to the Medicaid expansion. Utilizing the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), the study examined individuals 19-64 years of age on health insurance status changes, health care utilization, and self-reported health status before and after the implementation of the Affordable Care Act. More specifically, the target population for analysis was limited to those newly eligible for Medicaid through the Medicaid expansion, those below 138% the federal poverty level, between 2010 and 2014.

The study first looked at the changes in insurance status based on use of private insurance, Medicaid, and no insurance. The results showed a significant increase in health insurance coverage by 7.4 percentage points and an increase in Medicaid insurance by 10.5 percentage points (Wherry & Miller, 2016). The findings of this research supported two of the main goals of the ACA, to decrease the number of uninsured individuals and to increase the

number of individuals on Medicaid. To understand the impact of the additional insurance through Medicaid expansion, Wherry and Miller (2016) looked at two outcomes, whether the health care coverage was better than a year before and whether individuals utilized health care. Better coverage was determined through a survey question, which asked respondents whether their health care coverage was better than the year before. Health care utilization was determined through a series of questions including, whether they saw or spoke to a physician in general practice, internal medicine, or a specialist (excluding OBGYNs, psychiatrists and ophthalmologists), and if they were hospitalized overnight or used an emergency department. Diagnoses of chronic medical conditions, such as diabetes and high cholesterol were examined. The researchers found there was an increase in visits to general health physicians by 6.6 percentage points and increase in diagnosis of treatable conditions including diabetes and high cholesterol (5.7 and 5.7 percentage points respectively) (Wherry & Miller, 2016).

Other studies (Simon et al., 2017; Sommers et al., 2014, 2015, 2016) have used similar variables to address similar questions and analyze the outcomes of the study by Wherry and Miller (2016). For example, a study conducted by (Sommers et al., 2017) found similar results. Their research specifically looked at two states that expanded Medicaid, Kentucky and Arkansas, as well as results from Texas, a state without Medicaid expansion. The researchers found that uninsurance rates dropped by 20 percentage points relative to the non-expansion state (Texas). They also found a 41-percentage point increase in those having a usual source of care and an increase in "excellent" self-reported health status. For those who identify as having a chronic health condition, there was an improvement in regular health care for those conditions, medication adherence, and self-reported health status of "great".

The studies addressed in this section use a methodological design that looks specifically at the same individual prior to and after the implementation of Medicaid expansion. (Sommers et al., 2017) compared health outcome results among those in expansion states to states that did not opt for expansion. They found that prior to ACA, those who were in the 138% poverty level group questioned for the Gallup-Healthways Well-Being Index had significantly worse health outcomes overall. However, after the implementation of ACA's Medicaid expansion this same group experienced a decrease of 8 percentage points in those who lacked a personal physician as well as 3.5 percentage point decrease in those who lacked easy access to medicine and a 2.5 percentage point decrease in those who were unable to afford health care. Minority populations saw a great decrease in probability of being uninsured. The study by Sommers et al. (2017) revealed individuals in Medicaid expansion states saw an improved impact of health insurance on health outcomes, including a reduction in days limited by health and a decrease in those reporting fair/poor health. Despite the improvement to health outcomes, none of the studies listed here address specific mental health outcomes.

Ultimately, the seminal studies that address health insurance status, health care utilization and health outcomes after the implementation of the ACA's Medicaid expansion for the states that opted in empirically show there is a decrease in uninsured individuals. Within those states, there was an increase in individuals who stated access to health care and medication improved and an overall self-response health status improvement. After several years of the ACA's Medicaid expansion provision,(Miller & Wherry, 2019) found that a reduction in those who are uninsured in states that expanded Medicaid and found that individuals had a reduction in financial stress.

2.6 MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS AND ACCESS TO INSURANCE

The (National Institute on Mental Health, 2022), a subsidiary of the National Institute of Health, defines any mental illness (AMI) as a mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder. The disorders can range in impact from no impairment, mild, moderate to severe. If the disorder is considered severe, (SMI) there is serious functional impairment that substantially interferes with major life activities. Mental health disorders are prevalent in the U.S. population. Approximately 20% of the adult population, or about 40 million people, suffer from mental illness disorders in the United States (Mental Health America, 2020; National Institute of Mental Health, 2022). The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) includes individuals with substance abuse disorders for an estimated 56 million adults suffering from mental health disorders. Of the estimated 40 million adults suffering from mental illness in the United States, over half (57%) do not receive any treatment (Mental Health America, 2020; National Institute of Mental Health, 2022). Among those who did receive treatment, over 22 percent have an unmet need for treatment. Nearly 44 percent of individuals did not seek treatment or had unmet mental health treatment needs due to the cost for care (Mental Health America, 2020). Mental Health America (2020) found a reduction in insured adults of about 8.2% since 2012. Despite the decrease in the number of uninsured adults, there is evidence that insurance ownership does not significantly reduce the unmet need for mental health care. Reasons for this unmet treatment need can be linked to cost-related barriers to being under-insured through private insurance plans (Collins, Sara R. et al., 2019).

According to the NIMH, adults with any mental illness (AMI) are those who have had inpatient or outpatient treatment, participated in counseling, or who used a prescription medication to treat problems for emotions, mental health, or nerves. Less than half of those who identified as having an AMI received treatment (46.2% of the 46.6 million individuals). Individuals 18-25 years of age made up 38.4% of those who received treatment while those 26-49 years of age made up 43.3%. Those over the age of 50 made up 44.2% of those who received treatment. Additionally, given that rates of mental illness differ substantially among males and females (37.4% vs. 51.2% respectively) (National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2022) assessing the difference among males and females would be useful to understanding a more holistic picture of mental health baselines prior to the implementation of the ACA.

2.7 DEPRESSIVE SYMPTOMS AND DOCTOR DIAGNOSISED MENTAL ILLNESS AND HEALTH INSURANCE STATUS

Hundreds of correlational studies have found that having health insurance resulted in better health outcomes (Gaudette et al., 2018). That said, only a limited number of studies designed to determine a causal relationship between having health insurance and better health outcomes have been published. The results of those studies conclude there is a reduction in mortality, increased self-reported health status, decrease in the prevalence of chronic health condition, and declines in prevalence of risk factors that result in poor health (Baicker et al., 2013; Finkelstein et al., 2012; Lasser et al., 2014; Sommers et al., 2012). These findings suggest there is a causal relationship between health insurance and better health outcomes.

More specifically, some of the earliest evidence from randomized health insurance studies that address the impact of having health insurance on mental health conditions are from the RAND study of the 70s and early 80s. Findings from the RAND study state individuals with health insurance have provided consistent evidence that health insurance improves health, most notably among vulnerable populations including children, the elderly and low-income individuals (Levy et al., 2004; Newhouse, 1996). The Oregon Health Insurance Study found having health insurance is associated with improvement in both self-reported physical and mental health (Finkelstein et al., 2012). The authors conclude having health insurance affects overall well-being and found individuals had an overall happiness increase of 32% if they have Medicaid. (Baicker et al., 2013) found a 9.2 percentage point decrease in the probability a positive depression screening would occur overall and 13.1 percentage points for those who had preexisting depression diagnoses. The greatest relief identified was a decrease in feeling down or hopeless, a reduction in feeling tired, and few nights with troubled sleeping. Oregon lottery Medicaid recipients had a reduced likelihood of having undiagnosed depression by 50% and untreated depression by 60% and an overall reduction in unmet medical treatment for mental health disorders by 40% (Baicker et al., 2018). Additionally, the authors found a significant increase in the use of medications commonly used to treat depression.

2.8 INDIVIDUAL AND SOCIETAL COSTS OF UNTREATED MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS

Determining whether access to Medicaid has an impact on individuals' mental health is essential, given the prevalence of unmet treatment needs and previous research on the outcomes associated with having health insurance. Individuals diagnosed with mental illness are estimated to have significantly lower employment rates than those without mental health disorders (Baldwin & Marcus, 2007). Additionally, those who are employed and have a mental illness earn approximately 10% less than individuals without a mental illness (Baldwin & Marcus, 2007; Kessler et al., 2008). (Mitra & Jones, 2017) found that mental health problems lead to a significant increase in the probability of becoming unemployed; those in recovery (i.e., treatment) were more likely to obtain employment. Unemployment and underemployment have direct economic burdens on society. Rice et al. (1991) were the first to estimate a societal cost to mental illness, finding that over \$44 billion earnings were lost due to mental health issues. An updated study in 1992 on this issue determined the cost had increased to \$77 billion (Harwood, H. et al., 1992). Other studies have found those with serious mental illness lose an average of \$16,306 in lost wages when compared to those who do not suffer from serious mental illness, making the societal cost closer to \$193 billion in lost earnings (Kessler et al., 2008).

2.9 CONCEPTUAL MECHANISMS

Literature investigating the relationship between health insurance ownership and health outcomes continues to grow rapidly providing a foundation on empirical analyses to better establish a thorough understanding of how health insurance impacts overall health status. Much of the literature highlights studies indicating a relationship between health insurance and health outcomes. Determining the impact of Medicaid expansion on mental health is essential in adding to the body of knowledge as to whether implementation of the ACA's Medicaid Expansion affects health outcomes. Medicaid expansion may have a similar impact on health-related health outcomes, more specifically mental health outcomes. The effect of Medicaid expansion on mental health occurs through three main conceptual mechanisms: 1) through a reduction of uninsured individuals; 2) increased demand for and utilization of healthcare services; and 3) reducing financial stress from health-related expenditures.

Reduction in uninsured individuals

Uninsured individuals with access to health insurance through health care reform are more likely to be insured after the implementation of the reform. A health care policy change offering lower income individuals' access to health insurance will likely result in a reduction of uninsured individuals. Previous health care policy reform implementation, such as the Massachusetts health insurance legislation found a reduction in insured individuals (Kolstad & Kowalski, 2012). Similar results were observed in early studies assessing the impact of Medicaid expansion on the reduction of uninsured individuals (Sommers et al., 2017; Wherry & Miller, 2016). The reduction in uninsured individuals not only includes those who are newly eligible for enrollment but also for individuals who were previously eligible for Medicaid expansion (Frean et al., 2017; Hudson & Moriya, 2017). This can be attributed to the "Welcome mat" effect, which is when individuals who were previously eligible for Medicaid enroll due to an increase in media coverage of the policy, enhanced outreach by federal and state advocates and a simpler application process to obtain Medicaid (Hudson & Moriya, 2017).

Increasing demand for and utilization of services

Secondly, health insurance lowers the cost of care to consumers, therefore an increase in demand for services would be anticipated with an introduction of sweeping policy change making healthcare more affordable through insurance subsidies or free Medicaid expansion through state programs. Studies examining the impact of the implementation of the Oregon Health Insurance experiment, which offered a group of individuals Medicaid at random, found individuals newly eligible for the Medicaid had a 13 percentage point increase in the mean annual visits with a medical professional when compared to those who did not receive Medicaid (Gold et al., 2014). Additionally, Medicaid offered through the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment was found to significantly increase overall emergency use by .41 visits per person (Taubman et al., 2014). The ACA's Medicaid expansion resulted in improved access to care and increased rates of individuals having a source of regular care (Simon et al., 2017; Sommers et al., 2014). In addition to increased rates of individuals having a regular physician, individuals

increased preventative health visits, lab tests and cancer screenings (Simon et al., 2017; Sommers et al., 2014). Beyond office visits and regular screenings, there is an increase in prescription drug utilization and adherence (Ghosh et al., 2019; Sommers et al., 2016).

Having health insurance for those who suffer from mental illness, generalized or serious is positively correlated to receiving treatment for their diagnosed condition (Walker et al., 2015). The Oregon Health Insurance Experiment study found substantial improvements in depression. Closely related to the improvement in depression, a greater prevalence in diagnoses of depression, an increase in antidepressant medication use, and an overall 30 percentage point reduction in depressive symptoms was identified (Baicker et al., 2013).

Reduced financial stress

Thirdly, access to health insurance reduces financial stress and constitutes an indirect pathway in which Medicaid Expansion may improve mental health. The strongest evidence of this is found through research conducted on the effect of the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment. Allen et al (2010) found there were substantial financial savings when compared to those not selected for Medicaid. Other studies found there Medicaid offered through the Oregon Health Insurance Lottery resulted in an elimination of catastrophic out-of-pocket medical expenses (Baicker et al., 2013; Finkelstein et al., 2012). The Massachusetts Health reform resulted in a reduction of personal bankruptcies and improved credit scores (Mazumder & Miller, 2016). The lack of health insurance can increase stress due to unexpected health related expenditures. Previous research suggests financial stress can increase depressive symptoms (Asebedo & Wilmarth, 2017; Mendes De Leon et al., 1994; Vinokur et al., 1996). Findings from previous research show an increase in life satisfaction and an overall reduction in stress after receiving health insurance (Baicker et al., 2013; Finkelstein et al., 2012; Tran et al., 2017)

The aim of this study is to understand how the increased access to Medicaid insurance brought about by the Affordable Care Act affected various measures of mental health using data from the 2009-2019 waves of the Panel Survey of Income Dynamics (PSID). The following section, Chapter 3, describes the methodology used in this research.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

3.1 DATA AND SAMPLE

This study used data from the Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID), waves 2009-2019. The PSID began in 1968 with a nationally representative sample of 4,802 families who were interviewed annually until 1997 when it switched to a biannual interview (Panel Study of Income Dynamics, n.d.). The PSID is the world's longest-running nationally representative panel data set and has a response rate of 91% since the survey's inception (Johnson et al., 2018). Children from these original families continued in the survey as "split-offs" sample members once they left their household of origin. The original sample was limited to respondents between the ages of 26 to 75 starting in 1999.

The PSID survey details lifestyle choices, health conditions and financial status. Given its longitudinal character and rich information on both subjective and doctor-diagnosed mental health conditions, the PSID data are well suited to investigate the research question posed in this study. The key variables that were analyzed included a respondent's insurance status, perceived health status (i.e., life satisfaction and depression symptoms), as well as reported mental health conditions diagnosed by a medical professional.

3.2 VARIABLES

The first variable used to assess respondents' psychological well-being was life satisfaction. Since 2009, the PSID has asked the respondent to answer the following question: Please think about your life as a whole. How satisfied are you with it? Are you:

- 1. Completely satisfied
- 2. Very satisfied
- 3. Somewhat satisfied
- 4. Not very satisfied
- 5. Not at all satisfied?

The variable was scored from 1 to 5, with 1 being "completely satisfied" and 5 being "not at all satisfied".

Another key dependent variable analyzed in this study was an individual's self-reported psychological distress measured on Kessler's Psychological Distress Scale (K6 scale), an instrument developed by Dr. Ronald Kessler, Professor of Healthcare Policy at Harvard Medical School (Kessler, R.K. & Mroczek, D. K., 1992). The scale includes six items/questions that asked the respondent to reply to the question: In the past 30 days, about how often did you feel:

- 1. So sad nothing could cheer you up
- 2. Nervous
- 3. Restless or fidgety
- 4. Hopeless
- 5. That everything was an effort
- 6. Worthless

The responses ranged from "*all of the time*" (score of 4 points) to "*none of the time*" (score of 0). The summary K6 score thus ranges between 0 and 24. In addition to a metric variable summary score, a binary variable indicating a score of 13 or more was used to identify clinically significant psychological distress. Arguably, the K6 measure is the most sensitive measure of the
dependent variables given it is the most granular with six questions and the slightest variation may suggest change in mental health.

To further understand the mental health of respondents after the implementation of the Affordable Care Act and Medicaid Expansion, this study used reports of mental health diagnoses by a medical professional. The PSID survey respondents were asked the following question: Has a doctor or other health professional ever told {you/your spouse} that {you/he/she} had:

- 1. An emotional, nervous, or psychiatric problem?
- 2. Permanent loss of memory or mental ability?

Two binary indicator variables are constructed to identify the affirmative responses to these questions. Additionally, respondents who answered in the affirmative to the first question, were asked the follow-up question: "What was the diagnosis?". While there were several possible responses, two of them, namely "depression" and "anxiety (panic)", were prevalent enough to be suitable for statistical analysis. Consequently, dichotomous indicator variables were created to identify onsets of depression and anxiety (panic) disorders.

An important calculation feature of both life satisfaction and K6 score measures described above is only the interviewed respondent who answered these questions was included in the analysis. Consequently, the values of these variables were only available for one individual per PSID household. In contrast, all questions about doctor-diagnosed conditions were answered for both spouses if the PSID household was a couple. Thus, the sample of observations of doctordiagnosed conditions is larger than the sample of respondents for whom life satisfaction or K6 measures was available.

The independent variable is a binary indicator of whether the individual lives in a state that has opted for Medicaid expansion. Individuals were grouped into 4 groups, including:

- 1. Those below 100% of the national poverty level, their access to Medicaid did not change with the implementation of the ACA.
- 2. Those between 100-138% of the national poverty level, who were newly eligible in a state that opted for Medicaid expansion.
- Individuals between 138-400% of the national poverty level, who are eligible for governmental premium subsidies.
- 4. Those 400% of the national poverty level or greater, whose eligibility for any assistance through the ACA did not change.

TABLE 3.1 Variables to determine the impact of health insurance on n	nental	healt	th
--	--------	-------	----

Variables	Measurements
Dependent Variables Self-Reported Subjective Wellbeing	1-5 (1 being completely satisfied, 5 not being satisfied at all
Self-Reported Psychological	0-24 (0 no psychological distress-24 extreme psychological distress)
Significant psychological distress	K6 score below 13=no, K6 score 13 and above=yes
Have you been diagnosed with depression or anxiety by a medical professional?	Yes=1, No=0
Independent Variables	
Income Level	0-100% poverty level, 100%-138% poverty level, 138%-400% poverty level, 400%+ poverty level
State of Residency	0 if respondent lived in a state that DID NOT have Medicaid Expansion, 1 if respondent lived in a state with Medicaid Expansion
Age	16-64, Limited to those below age 65 (who are Medicare eligible)
Marital Status	If 0 respondent is not married, if 1 respondent is married
Number of Family Members	Min 1 Max 14
Number of Children	Min 0 Max 11
Employment status	Employed, Self-employed, retired, Student, Disabled,

	Unemployed, Domestic homemaker
Retirement status	Yes, No
Disabled status	Yes, No
Type of Insurance	
Uninsured	If 0 respondent is insured, if 1 respondent is uninsured
Wealth of family	Total Wealth
Unemployment state	
State GDP	
Maximum EITC	Min 0 Max 11, 598

3.3 EMPIRICAL MODEL

Conceptually, the effect of the 2014 ACA's Medicaid expansion on mental health should operate primarily by reducing the number of uninsured people and by increasing the number of individuals who are enrolled in Medicaid. Accordingly, the first step in the empirical analysis is to test if such mechanisms can be observed in the data. I estimate the following equation:

$$Y_{ist} = \beta \cdot E_{st} + X'_{ist}\theta + \mu_i + \gamma_t + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(1)

where Y_{ist} is a measure of Medicaid enrollment (or insurance coverage status) of individual *i* living in state *s* in time *t*, E_{st} denotes a binary indicator for Medicaid expansion being in effect in state *s* in time *t*, X_{ist} represent control variables (quadratic function of age, education, marital status, number of household members, interview month average census division-level unemployment, census division fixed effects, and month of interview fixed effects. Moreover, the estimations control for individual fixed effects, μ_i , and year fixed effects, γ_t , while ε_{it} denotes a random error. The above equation is estimated as a linear probability model with robust standard errors clustered at household and year levels. To avoid confounding effects of Medicare eligibility, the sample for this estimation, as well as all subsequent estimations, is limited to individuals younger than 65.

The coefficient of interest in the above model, β , identifies the causal effect of the ACA Medicaid expansion. Equation (1) is a flexible implementation of the difference-in-

differences (DiD) framework (analogous to using the *post x treatment* variable in a standard difference-in-differences setup) that accounts for the fact that Medicaid expansion occurred at different times in different states. Therefore, the coefficient β measures the marginal effect of Medicaid expansion on the specific outcome variable. Given the controls for individual fixed effects, the value of this coefficient is identified by calculating the average change in the dependent variable experienced by an individual before vs. after the implementation of Medicaid expansion in her state of residence.

As explained in previous sections, the theoretical impact of ACA's Medicaid expansion should depend on household income. Individuals whose income is below the federal poverty threshold should experience no effect as they qualified for Medicaid even before the ACA became effective. Individuals whose income falls between 100% to 138% of the federal poverty level (and who reside in expansion states) should experience a large effect of Medicaid expansion as they constitute the primary beneficiary group of health coverage. Respondents with income between 138% to 400% of the federal poverty level might also experience a significant effect as the ACA law created sliding scale subsidies that help these individuals pay health insurance premiums in state or federal health marketplace. Finally, the most affluent households, i.e., those with income exceeding 400% of the federal poverty guidelines, should experience no significant effect as the law does not offer them new benefits.

To evaluate the differential effect of the ACA Medicaid expansion by income the model specification is altered by the inclusion of interaction terms between the Medicaid expansion dummy and a set of indicators of income distribution:

$$Y_{ist} = \alpha E_{st} + \beta_1 P 1_{it} + \beta_2 P 2_{it} + \beta_3 P 3_{it} + \delta_1 (E_{st} \times P 1_{it}) + \delta_2 (E_{st} \times P 2_{it}) + \delta_3 (E_{st} \times P 3_{it}) + X'_{ist} \theta + \mu_i + \gamma_t + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2)

where $P1_{it}$, $P2_{it}$, and $P3_{it}$ indicate that individual *i*'s household income in the previous calendar year was below 100%, 100-138%, and 138-400% of the federal need standard, respectively, and all other elements are as in Equation (1) above.

After establishing that Medicaid expansion resulted in a significant increase in Medicaid enrollment and a decrease in the likelihood of being uninsured, I proceeded to the examination of mental health effects of ACA law. Toward this purpose, I re-estimate equations (1) and (2) with dependent variables operationalized as: (1) life satisfaction, (2) K-6 score, (3) an indicator for K-6 score being 13 or higher, (4) doctor-diagnosed onset of psychological disorder, (5) doctor-diagnosed onset of psychological disorder – depression, (6) doctor-diagnosed onset of psychological disorder – maxiety/panic, and (7) doctor-diagnosed onset of loss of memory or mental ability.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

4.1 DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

Data from the Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID), waves 2009-2019, resulting in several key findings. The PSID began in 1968 with a nationally representative sample of 4,802 families who were interviewed annually until 1997 when it switched to a biannual interview (Panel Study of Income Dynamics, 2017). PSID is a nationally representative panel data set and has a response rate of 91% since the survey's inception (Johnson et al., 2018).

The descriptive statistics are shown in Table 4.1 below detailing the make-up of the sample and the dependent and independent variables used in the analysis. All dollar variables from previous waves are adjusted for 2019 dollars. The mean life satisfaction score for the full sample is M=2.148. The mean K6 psychological distress score is 3.48 points out of a maximum of 24 points. Four percent of the full sample was identified as having clinically significant psychological distress based on their K6 score. Among the full sample, 20 % had been diagnosed by a health professional as having a psychiatric condition, 11% had been diagnosed as having depression and 8% had a diagnosis of anxiety.

The average respondent in the full sample is 44 years old, likely to be married (68%), have children (79%) and have some college education (13 years of education). Over threequarters (78%) of the sample was White; 14% was Black. The vast majority (88%) were non-Hispanic. About 5% had incomes between 100-138% of the national poverty level (the group newly eligible for Medicaid expansion) and 37% were between 138-400%, the group who become eligible for governmental premium subsidies through the ACA. Fourteen percent were

uninsured.

Table 4.1 Descriptive Statistics

		M/Percentages	
	Full Sample	Females	Males
Life satisfaction score	2.1481	2.1429	2.1540
K6 score	3.4761	3.6912	3.1880
K6 scoreSevere	4%	5%	3%
Psychiatric condition	20%	24%	15%
Diagnosed depression	11%	15%	8%
Diagnosed anxiety	8%	10%	5%
Federal Poverty level			
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)	9%	10%	9%
FPL 100-138%	5%	5%	5%
FPL 138-400%	37%	38%	36%
FPL < 400%	49%	47%	51%
Gender			
Male	47%	0%	100%
Female	53%	100%	0%
Race			
White	78%	77%	79%
Black	14%	15%	13%
Other	8%	8%	8%
Ethnicity			
Non-Hispanic	88%	67%	88%
Hispanic	12%	33%	12%
Age	44.0910	44.2298	43.9343
Education Level	13.6862	13.7562	13.6076
Married	68%	66%	70%
Family Size	2.7209	2.7489	2.6894
Children	79%	82%	75%
Employment Status			
Employed	63%	61%	52%
Self-employed	11%	8%	13%
Homemaker	8%	14%	1%
Student	2%	2%	1%
Retired	6%	6%	6%
Other	0%	0%	0%
Disabled	4%	4%	4%
Unemployed	6%	5%	7%
Uninsured	14%	12%	16%
Income	\$101,439.10	\$98,553.37	\$104,695.30
Net worth	\$343,625.00	\$338,984.37	\$348,861.30

Note: all \$ are adjusted for 2019 dollars

The sample included slightly more females than males, at 53% and 47% respectively. Females and males had similar means in most of the variables however there were some differences in employment status and uninsured status. Nearly 13 percent of males were selfemployed whereas only 8 percent of females are self-employed. Sixteen percent of males were uninsured, and 12 percent of females were uninsured.

4.2 MULTIVARIATE REGRESSION RESULTS

Each dependent variable was analyzed by estimating two model specifications across three distinct samples. Three of these estimations aimed to measure the overall effect of Medicaid expansion, both for the full sample and separately for females and males. Each of the estimated models was then modified with the addition of indicator variables for respondents' income range, as well as the interaction terms between the Medicaid expansion variable and these income indicators. The income groups were defined using the following cutoffs of the federal poverty threshold: 0-100%, 100-138%, and 138-400%, with respondents reporting income greater than 400% of the federal poverty level serving as the reference group. Therefore, the coefficient estimates on interaction terms reveal if and how the changes in outcome variables due to Medicaid expansion are different across groups of individuals who fall into different ranges as defined by the multiples of the federal poverty threshold. Moreover, the tests of linear restrictions are carried out to confirm the statistical significance of variation in outcome variables brought about by the ACA Medicaid expansion within each of the income groups.

The effect of the 2014 implementation of Medicaid expansion on mental health should operate primarily by reducing the number of uninsured people and by increasing the number of individuals who are enrolled in Medicaid. Accordingly, the first step in the empirical analysis is to measure the effect of Medicaid expansion on these two outcomes.

Probability of Being Uninsured

Table 4.2 reports regression results from estimations where the dependent variable was a binary indicator for not having any insurance coverage. Measured across the whole sample, Medicaid expansion reduced the probability of being uninsured by about 1.2 percentage points, the effect significant at 0.1 level (column 1). Estimations conducted with sub-samples of females (column 3) and males (column 5) revealed similar magnitudes of the effect for both populations, although only the effect for males was estimated with enough precision to deem it statistically significant at 0.1 level.

		Full sa	umple		Fem	nales	Males			
		(1)		(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)		
	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)		
a: Medicaid expansion	-0.0117	(0.0060)†	0.0429	(0.0093) ***	-0.0123 (0.0085)	0.0399 (0.0122) ***	-0.0109 (0.0063)†	0.0467 (0.0081) ***		
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)			0.1072	(0.0158) ***		0.0888 (0.0187) ***		0.1391 (0.0176) ***		
FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%)			0.0960	(0.0175) ***		0.0854 (0.0201) ***		0.1100 (0.0182) ***		
FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%)			0.0437	(0.0070) ***		0.0415 (0.0087) ***		0.0460 (0.0062) ***		
b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%)			-0.1638	(0.0140) ***		-0.1278 (0.0162) ***		-0.2289 (0.0204) ***		
b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%)			-0.1798	(0.0237) ***		-0.1547 (0.0305) ***		-0.2199 (0.0225) ***		
b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)			-0.0698	(0.0110) ***		-0.0676 (0.0123) ***		-0.0728 (0.0123) ***		
Age	-0.0057	(0.0045)	-0.0011	(0.0045)	-0.0072 (0.0062)	-0.0031 (0.0061)	-0.0046 (0.0054)	0.0008 (0.0054)		
Age Squared	0.0001	(0.0000) **	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0001 (0.0000)***	0.0001 (0.0000)*		
Years of educ. completed	0.0010	(0.0024)	0.0009	(0.0022)	-0.0006 (0.0034)	-0.0005 (0.0033)	0.0025 (0.0033)	0.0018 (0.0033)		
# of hhd members	-0.0093	(0.0020) ***	-0.0109	(0.0020) ***	-0.0062 (0.0036)†	-0.0077 (0.0037)*	-0.0121 (0.0030)***	-0.0139 (0.0027)***		
Married	-0.0054	(0.0056)	-0.0007	(0.0062)	0.0015 (0.0067)	0.0069 (0.0078)	-0.0169 (0.0085)*	-0.0142 (0.0084)†		
Max EITC	0.0000	(0.0000) **	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)***	0.0000 (0.0000)*		
State unemployment	0.0070	(0.0030)*	0.0047	(0.0027)†	0.0072 (0.0028)**	0.0052 (0.0025)*	0.0070 (0.0041)†	0.0044 (0.0037)		
State GDP (millions \$)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)		
State effective min. wage	0.0077	(0.0018) ***	0.0056	(0.0018) **	0.0076 (0.0021)***	0.0058 (0.0020)**	0.0081 (0.0027)**	0.0057 (0.0025)*		
N		66,461		66,461	36,767	36,767	29,693	29,693		
R2 (within)		0.0320		0.0407	0.0288	0.0353	0.0403	0.0535		
Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that	these linear re	estrictions are eq	ual to zeros:							
a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 100	0% of FPL)		-0.1210	(0.0000) ***		-0.0880 (0.0000) ***		-0.1822 (0.0000) ***		
a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between 1	00-138% of I	FPL)	-0.1307	(0.0000) ***		-0.1148 (0.0000)***		-0.1733 (0.0000)***		
a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between 1	38-400% of I	FPL)	-0.0270	(0.0005) ***		-0.0278 (0.0053)**		-0.0262 (0.0097) **		

Table 4.2: OLS regression results, dependent variable is Uninsured

The estimation results from specifications that included interaction effects between income group indicators and the Medicaid expansion dummy revealed important differences in the change in the probability of being uninsured across various groups of respondents. Most importantly, those with incomes between 100-138% of the federal poverty threshold experienced a sizable 13 percentage points reduction in the probability of being uninsured (linear restriction in the bottom panel in column 2), and this effect appeared to be more pronounced among males (17 percentage points) than among females (11 percentage points). This result was expected given that Medicaid expansion was designed to serve this group of consumers.

Interestingly, the estimations also revealed that ACA Medicaid expansion had an outsized negative effect on the probability of being uninsured among those who were already eligible for Medicaid before expansion, i.e., those with incomes below the federal poverty threshold. Measured across the whole sample, the expansion of Medicaid suggested a 12-percentage point reduction in the likelihood of being uninsured among these individuals, and the effect appeared to be much greater among males than among females (18 vs. 9 percentage points), although no formal test of statistical significance of the difference by sex was conducted. One of the possible reasons why the probability of being uninsured reduced after Medicaid expansion among previously eligible individuals might be the "welcome-mat" effect. The "welcome-mat effect" is when previously eligible individuals who may not have known they were eligible for coverage enrolled because of increased outreach efforts surrounding ACA Medicaid expansion in the states that opted for the policy implementation (Frean et al., 2017; Hudson & Moriya, 2017).

The implementation of ACA Medicaid expansion also led to about a 3 percentage point drop in the probability of being uninsured for those with incomes between 138-400% of the federal poverty guidelines. It has also led to a slight increase in the probability of being

uninsured among those with income over the four-fold multiple of the poverty threshold (as judged by coefficient estimates on Medicaid expansion variable in models with interaction terms). The reduction in the likelihood of being uninsured in the former group can be explained by the fact that, in states that expanded Medicaid, the expansion overlapped with the implementation of subsidies for the purchase of insurance in the state or federal marketplaces created by ACA. The seemingly surprising estimate for respondents with the highest income, on the other hand, could suggest that the Medicaid expansion variable captured the effect of the tax law passed and signed in 2017 that repealed the individual mandate penalty for not having insurance.

Medicaid Enrollment

The regression results presented in Table 4.3 provide strong evidence that the statutory objectives of ACA Medicaid expansion were achieved. Measured across the whole sample, ACA Medicaid expansion led to approximately a five percentage point increase in the probability of being enrolled under Medicaid (column 1). Expectedly, the effect was concentrated among low-income respondents. The primary beneficiaries of Medicaid, those in the 100-138% range of the federal poverty level, experienced about a 12-13 percentage point increase in the probability of being covered by Medicaid, and the effect was similar in magnitude for both females and males (columns 3 and 5).

		Full s	ample			Fen	nales		Males			
		(1)		(2)		(3)		(4)		(5)		(6)
	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)
a: Medicaid expansion	0.0503	(0.0065) ***	-0.0032	(0.0051)	0.0548	3 (0.0104) ***	-0.0007	(0.0068)	0.0445	(0.0054) ***	-0.0063	(0.0062)
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)			0.0606	(0.0097) ***			0.0744	(0.0146) ***			0.0356	(0.0080) ***
FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%)			0.0375	(0.0106) ***			0.0404	(0.0133) **			0.0343	(0.0151)*
FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%)			-0.0035	(0.0039)			-0.0043	(0.0062)			-0.0022	(0.0028)
b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%)			0.1841	(0.0272) ***			0.1637	(0.0285) ***			0.2224	(0.0323) ***
b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%)			0.1297	(0.0210) ***			0.1310	(0.0230) ***			0.1268	(0.0247) ***
b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)			0.0645	(0.0061) ***			0.0644	(0.0087) ***			0.0641	(0.0063) ***
Age	-0.0077	(0.0055)	-0.0069	(0.0053)	-0.0060) (0.0085)	-0.0045	(0.0084)	-0.0093	(0.0046)*	-0.0094	(0.0046)*
Age Squared	0.0001	(0.0000) ***	0.0001	(0.0000) ***	0.000	(0.0000) ***	0.0002	(0.0000) ***	0.0001	(0.0000) ***	0.0001	(0.0000) ***
Years of educ. completed	-0.0056	(0.0022)*	-0.0047	(0.0022)*	-0.0062	2 (0.0027)*	-0.0055	(0.0026)*	-0.0043	(0.0029)	-0.0029	(0.0028)
# of hhd members	0.0066	(0.0024) **	0.0074	(0.0023) ***	0.0053	3 (0.0036)	0.0062	(0.0036)†	0.0071	(0.0023)**	0.0081	(0.0021)***
Married	-0.0349	(0.0063) ***	-0.0213	(0.0051) ***	-0.0486	5 (0.0081)***	-0.0324	(0.0072)***	-0.0064	(0.0070)	0.0040	(0.0066)
Max EITC	0.0000	(0.0000) ***	0.0000	(0.0000) ***	0.000) (0.0000) ***	0.0000	(0.0000) ***	0.0000	(0.0000) ***	0.0000	(0.0000)*
State unemployment	-0.0043	(0.0020)*	-0.0027	(0.0017)	-0.0045	5 (0.0021)*	-0.0029	(0.0018)	-0.0043	(0.0026)†	-0.0025	(0.0024)
State GDP (millions \$)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.000) (0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)
State effective min. wage	-0.0025	(0.0022)	-0.0005	(0.0023)	-0.0024	4 (0.0029)	-0.0006	(0.0029)	-0.0031	(0.0021)	-0.0008	(0.0022)
N		66,461		66,461		36,767		36,767		29,693		29,693
R2 (within)		0.0227		0.0410		0.0265		0.0420		0.0228		0.0477
Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that t	hese linear 1	estrictions are eq	ual to zeros	:								
a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 100	% of FPL)		0.1809	(0.0000) ***			0.1629	(0.0000) ***			0.2161	(0.0000) ***
a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between 1	00-138% of	FPL)	0.1266	(0.0000) ***			0.1303	(0.0000) ***			0.1205	(0.0000) ***
a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between 1	38-400% of	FPL)	0.0613	(0.0000) ***			0.0637	(0.0000) ***			0.0578	(0.0000) ***

Table 4.3: OLS regression results, dependent variable is Medicaid Insured

Interestingly, after Medicaid expansion, the magnitude of increase in the probability of being enrolled was even greater among those who had been eligible even before the policy reform. The likelihood of being covered among these low-income respondents increased by 18 percentage points overall, and by 16 and 22 percentage points among females and males, respectively. This sizable estimate could again arise from the "welcome-mat" effect. Quite possibly, the coefficient estimates could also capture transitions across income groups in the sample. Such transitions might also explain why the probability of being covered by Medicaid increased slightly in expansion states among individuals who have incomes above 138% of the federal poverty level. This explanation seems especially likely given that income in PSID is measured for the previous calendar year. For example, an individual who reported a household income in the 138-400% range of poverty guidelines in the previous year, might have income in the 100-138% in the present year and qualify for the expanded Medicaid benefit.

Overall, results in Tables 4.2 and 4.3 suggest that Medicaid expansion led to both statistically significant and quantitatively meaningful reductions in the probability of not having health insurance coverage and increases in the probability of being enrolled under Medicaid. Expectedly, the effects were concentrated among respondents who were targeted by the policy, i.e., those with incomes in the 100-138% bracket of the federal poverty guidelines, although some spillover effects were experienced by respondents in the adjacent income groups.

Life Satisfaction

Table 4.4 reports results from estimations of regression models where the dependent variable was life satisfaction measured on a five-item scale, with lower values indicating higher satisfaction. Life satisfaction was measured using responses to the following question: "Please

think about your life as a whole. How satisfied are you with it? Are you completely satisfied, very satisfied, somewhat satisfied, not very satisfied, or not at all satisfied?" The variable is scored from 1 to 5, with 1 being "completely satisfied" and 5 being "not at all satisfied". As above, estimation results are presented separately for the full sample and sub-samples of females and males, both for model specifications that intend to capture the overall effect of Medicaid expansion, as well as model specifications that examine the differential effects by income groups.

Estimates presented in column 1 reveal that, as measured across the entire sample, Medicaid expansion improved subjectively rated life satisfaction by about 0.01 points. However, the effect is not statistically significant and cannot be extrapolated to the general population. Similarly, no significant expansion-induced variation was detected when estimations were conducted separately with sub-samples of females and males (columns 3 and 5, respectively).

The estimations of models that included indicator variables for income groups, as well as the interaction terms between these indicators and Medicaid expansion, revealed that the effect of expansion on life satisfaction was concentrated among respondents who constituted the primary target of the policy. For those with income between 100-138% of the federal poverty threshold, experiencing the state expansion of Medicaid improved life satisfaction by 0.073 points, an effect significant at the 0.01 level (linear combination reported in the bottom panel in column 2). Simulated at the sample mean (life satisfaction = 2.1481), this effect translates into an improvement in life satisfaction by about 3.4%. Although no formal tests were conducted to examine the statistical significance of differences in expansion-induced variation in life satisfaction scores between females and males, the effects appear to be more pronounced among males. Female respondents with household income in the 100-138% range of the federal poverty

guidelines reported an improvement in life satisfaction in the magnitude of 0.059 (column 4), while the equivalent effect for males was measured at 0.095 (column 6). Both effects are statistically significant. At the same time, while the estimates of the impact of Medicaid expansion on life satisfaction point to an improvement in satisfaction following the expansion in all other income groups, none of these effects is statistically significant. Thus, it seems like the primary beneficiaries of Medicaid expansion based on eligibility rules also constitute the only group of respondents who experienced an improvement in life satisfaction with the new policy.

In terms of the effects of other covariates, life satisfaction is a non-linear function of age, improves with marriage and family size, and worsens with educational attainment. Moreover, the state GDP and the generosity of state welfare policy measured with the maximum dollar amount of tax credit that a low-income household is eligible to receive were negatively correlated with life satisfaction. The subjective life satisfaction of females was also inversely correlated with state minimum wage. Finally, estimations that control for grouping based on poverty threshold provide some evidence of the relationship between household income and life satisfaction. In these estimations, the coefficient estimates on federal poverty group indicators reveal how the reports of life satisfaction changed for respondents in no expansion states when they transition from the group with income above 400% of the poverty threshold into the groups with lower incomes. The equivalent effect for individuals in expansion states can be calculated as the sum of the coefficient on Medicaid expansion dummies and coefficients on poverty threshold multiples indicators. Results show that individuals who make a transition from the highest-income group into lower-income groups experienced a decline in life satisfaction.

Full	sample			Fe	emales		Males						
	(2)		(3)			(4)		(5)	(6)				
	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)			
)	-0.0150	(0.0091)	-0.009	0 (0.0095)	-0.0143	3 (0.0119)	-0.0181	(0.0163)	-0.0172	(0.0132)			
	0.1095	(0.0144) ***			0.1028	8 (0.0159)***			0.1218	(0.0249)***			
	0.1024	(0.0199) ***			0.1121	(0.0216)***			0.0889	(0.0254)***			
	0.0557	(0.0111) ***			0.0658	8 (0.0129)***			0.0436	(0.0117)***			
	0.0138	(0.0355)			0.0347	7 (0.0319)			-0.0167	(0.0536)			
	-0.0579	(0.0286)*			-0.0450	0 (0.0304)			-0.0774	(0.0390)*			
	0.0080	(0.0114)			0.0071	(0.0122)			0.0099	(0.0207)			
)	0.0143	(0.0083)†	0.009	3 (0.0150)	0.0132	2 (0.0148)	0.0131	(0.0135)	0.0165	(0.0136)			
) ***	-0.0002	(0.0001) ***	-0.000	1 (0.0001)*	-0.0001	(0.0001)*	-0.0002	(0.0001) ***	-0.0003	(0.0001) ***			

0.0097 (0.0054) †

-0.0196 (0.0075)**

-0.1911 (0.0141)***

0.0000 (0.0000)

0.0031 (0.0055)

0.0204 (0.4890)

-0.0592 (0.0340)*

-0.0072 (0.5597)

0.0000 (0.0000)***

0.0146 (0.0045)***

36,589

0.0193

0.0093 (0.0050) †

-0.0354 (0.0076)***

-0.1602 (0.0162)***

0.0000 (0.0000) †

0.0109 (0.0048)*

0.0000 (0.0000)

-0.0061 (0.0048)

29,562

0.0163

Table 4.4: OLS regression results, dependent varia

(1)

(St. Err)

(0.0089)

(0.0082)

(0.0000) ***

(0.0067) ***

(0.0117) ***

(0.0000) **

(0.0046)

(0.0000) *

(0.0035)

66,152

0.0159

(0.0043)*

Coeff

-0.0129

0.0107

-0.0002

0.0089

-0.0258

-0.1910

0.0000

0.0069

0.0000

0.0055

Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that these linear restrictions are equal to zeros:

a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 100% of FPL)

a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between 100-138% of FPL)

a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between 138-400% of FPL)

a: Medicaid expansion

Age Age Squared

Married

Ν

Max EITC

R2 (within)

FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%) FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%) FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%) b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%) b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%) b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)

Years of educ. completed

of hhd members

State unemployment

State GDP (millions \$)

State effective min. wage

P-values: *** < 0.001, ** < 0.01, * < 0.05, † < 0.1. All estimations control for individual, state, year and month of interview fixed
effects. Robust standard errors are clustered at individual and year levels.

(0.0043)*

(0.0068) ***

(0.0121) ***

(0.0000)

(0.0044)

(0.0000) *

(0.0035)

66,152

0.0172

(0.9713)

(0.5145)

(0.0058) **

0.0096

-0.0275

-0.1763

0.0000

0.0066

0.0000

0.0058

-0.0012

-0.0729

-0.0069

0.0091 (0.0055)†

-0.0179 (0.0073)*

-0.2093 (0.0135) ***

0.0000 (0.0000)*

0.0032 (0.0057)

0.0000 (0.0000) ***

0.0144 (0.0044)***

36,589

0.0180

0.0099 (0.0051) †

-0.0369 (0.0075)***

-0.1502 (0.0163) ***

0.0000 (0.0000)

0.0105 (0.0046)*

0.0000 (0.0000)

-0.0058 (0.0047)

-0.0338 (0.5102)

-0.0072 (0.7496)

-0.0946 (0.0097)**

29,562

0.0176

K6 Psychological Distress Screening Score

The self-reported life satisfaction is a useful measure of the overall subjective well-being that likely captures variation in mental health. Several studies report that mental health is strongly associated with self-reported life satisfaction even after considering factors such as income, general health, sex, and other socio-demographic factors (e.g., Fergusson et al. 2015; Lombardo, et al., 2018). However, it is difficult to argue that self-reported life satisfaction is a precise measure of mental health as individuals' responses to life satisfaction survey questions could be influenced by changes in economic prosperity, professional life, family relations, or numerous other events, even if the respondents do not experience psychological distress related to these events. Therefore, in addition to life satisfaction, symptoms of self-reported psychological distress were analyzed to more precisely delineate the mental health impacts of Medicaid expansion.

Table 4.5 reports results from estimations of regression models where the dependent variable is K6 psychological distress screening measured for a total score between 0-24, calculated from six items/questions that ask the respondent to reply to: "*In the past 30 days, about how often did you feel {1. so sad nothing could cheer you up; 2. nervous; 3. restless or fidgety; 4. hopeless; 5. that everything was an effort; 6. worthless?*" The responses ranged from "all of the time" (score of 4 points) to "*none of the time*" (score of 0). Higher values indicate greater psychological distress. As the other variables addressed earlier, estimation results are presented separately for the full sample and sub-samples of females and males, both for model specifications that intend to capture the overall effect of Medicaid expansion, as well as model specifications that examine the differential effects by income groups.

		Full s	ample			Fer	nales		Males			
		(1)		(2)		(3)		(4)		(5)		(6)
	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)
a: Medicaid expansion	0.05143	(0.0089)	0.0419	(0.0702)	0.097	5 (0.0690)	0.0949	(0.0680)	-0.0033	(0.1146)	-0.0185	5 (0.1119)
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)			0.4350	(0.0855) ***			0.5378	(0.1212) ***			0.2252	2 (0.1114)*
FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%)			0.2045	(0.1060)†			0.2090	(0.1136)†			0.1994	4 (0.1453)
FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%)			0.0596	(0.0706)			0.0456	(0.0825)			0.0724	4 (0.1006)
b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%)			0.0768	(0.1157)			-0.0763	(0.1325)			0.3621	(0.1962)†
b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%)			-0.0602	(0.1169)			0.0394	(0.2022)			-0.3328	8 (0.3268)
b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)			-0.0064	(0.0827)			0.0160	(0.1142)			-0.0491	(0.1153)
Age	0.1469	(0.0500) **	0.1610	(0.0507) ***	0.228	3 (0.0932)*	0.2466	(0.0934)**	0.0170	(0.0716)	0.0257	7 (0.0718)
Age Squared	-0.0006	(0.0002) ***	-0.0007	(0.0002) ***	-0.000	9 (0.0003)***	-0.0011	(0.0003)***	0.0000	(0.0003)	-0.0001	(0.0004)
Years of educ. completed	0.0184	(0.0228)	0.0204	(0.0221)	0.026	3 (0.0224)	0.0283	(0.0221)	-0.0028	(0.0450)	0.0003	3 (0.0438)
# of hhd members	-0.0676	(0.0268)*	-0.0661	(0.0275)*	-0.087	5 (0.0296)**	-0.0876	(0.0305)**	-0.0393	(0.0433)	-0.0350	0 (0.0418)
Married	-0.3944	(0.0770) ***	-0.3545	(0.0797) ***	-0.382	8 (0.0750)***	-0.3291	(0.0773)***	-0.3963	(0.1247)***	-0.3780	0 (0.1252)**
Max EITC	0.0000	(0.0000) **	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.000) (0.0000)**	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000) (0.0000)
State unemployment	0.0258	(0.0226)	0.0244	(0.0217)	0.051	9 (0.0296)†	0.0493	(0.0285)†	-0.0226	(0.0367)	-0.0230) (0.0358)
State GDP (millions \$)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.000) (0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	* (0.0000)	0.0000	* (0.0000) *
State effective min. wage	0.0388	(0.0302)	0.0387	(0.0310)	0.0392	2 (0.0273)	0.0381	(0.0273)	0.0430	(0.0492)	0.0456	5 (0.0503)
N		44,041		44,041		27,229		27,229		16,811		16,811
R2 (within)		0.0077		0.0089		0.0095		0.0111		0.0130		0.0142
Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that	t these linear	restrictions are eq	qual to zeros	s:								
a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 10	0% of FPL)		0.1187	(0.3727)			0.0186	(0.8890)			0.3436	5 (0.1353)
a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between	100-138% of	FPL)	-0.0183	(0.8953)			0.1343	(0.5702)			-0.3513	3 (0.2468)
a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between	138-400% of	FPL)	0.0355	(0.5050)			0.1109	(0.2628)			-0.0676	6 (0.6575)

Table 4.5: OLS regression results, dependent variable is K6 score (score ranging from 0-24)

Estimation results revealed no evidence of the meaningful impact of Medicaid expansion on psychological distress symptoms. Estimates presented in column 1 reveal that, as measured across the entire sample, Medicaid expansion increased psychological distress by a mere 0.05 points. However, the effect is not statistically significant and cannot be extrapolated to the general population. Similarly, no significant expansion-induced variation was identified when estimations were conducted separately with sub-samples of females and males (columns 3 and 5, respectively).

The estimations of models that included indicator variables for income groups, as well as the interaction terms between these indicators and Medicaid expansion, confirmed that the effect of expansion on psychological distress symptoms was not statistically significant, even among respondents who constituted the primary target of the policy. For those with income between 100-138% of the federal poverty threshold, experiencing the state expansion of Medicaid decreased psychological distress by 0.018 points, an estimate that is not significant and cannot be generalized to the population (linear combination reported in the bottom panel in column 2). Although no formal tests were conducted to examine the statistical significance of differences in expansion-induced variation in psychological distress scores between females and males, the distress-reducing effects appear to be more pronounced among males. However, even among males, the magnitude of the effect measured at -0.35 (column 6) is too small to be statistically significant. Female respondents with household income in the 100-138% range of the federal poverty guidelines reported a non-significant increase in psychological distress in the magnitude of 0.134 (column 4). Overall, it seems Medicaid expansion did not have any meaningful effect

on depressive symptomatology measured on the K-6 scale for anyone within the target population or anyone regardless of the income range.

In terms of the effects of other covariates, the psychological distress score increases at a diminishing rate with age and decreases with marriage and family size. Unlike life satisfaction, the state GDP and the generosity of state welfare policy measured with the maximum dollar amount of tax credit that a low-income household is eligible to receive are not correlated to psychological distress. Moreover, estimations of models with interaction terms reveal that psychological distress increased by about 0.44 or 0.20 points for individuals in no expansion states whose income dropped from above 400% FPL to 0-100% FPL range or 100-138% FPL range, respectively.

Severe Psychological Distress

Table 4.6 reports results from estimations of regression models where the dependent variable is a binary indicator of severe psychological distress (K6 score >13). Estimates presented in column 1 show that, as measured across the entire sample, Medicaid expansion had a negligible negative effect on the probability of experiencing severe psychological distress. No significant expansion-induced variation was identified when estimations were conducted separately with the female sub-sample (column 3). However, state expansion of Medicaid translated into about 1.2 percentage points lower probability of experiencing severe psychological distress among male respondents (column 5). The estimations of models that included indicator variables for income groups, as well as the interaction terms between these indicators and Medicaid expansion, confirmed that the significant effect among male respondents was concentrated among those who constituted the primary target of the policy. For males with

incomes between 100-138% of the federal poverty threshold, experiencing the state expansion of Medicaid decreased the probability of having severe psychological distress by 3.2 percentage points, an effect that is significant at the .1 level (linear combination reported in the bottom panel in column 6). Interestingly, following Medicaid expansion, male respondents with household incomes above 400% of FPL also experienced a small (about 1 percentage point) decrease in the probability of serious mental illness, although the reason for this effect is unclear.

In terms of the effects of other covariates, the probability of having severe psychological distress is a non-linear function of age, decreases with marriage, and increases with the state minimum wage. Individuals whose income declined from the 400% FPL range to the 0-100% FPL range also experienced a statistically significant and quantitatively large (about 1.7 percentage points) increase in serious psychological distress. It is plausible, however, that this finding arises due to causality running in reverse, i.e., psychological illness being the determinant of income losses.

The remaining dependent variables examined in this study include onsets of doctordiagnosed mental health conditions. Similarly, to the dependent variables used in the estimations described above, these medical diagnoses are also self-reported by PSID survey respondents. However, the survey questions used by PSID interviewers inquired specifically about medical conditions diagnosed by a healthcare professional. This deliberate wording used in survey questions implies that the measures of onsets of mental health conditions are more objective than the measures of life satisfaction or K-6 symptomatology, and therefore less prone to be influenced by temporary personal feelings, moods, tastes, or opinions.

		Full	sample			Fei	males		Males			
		(1)		(2)		(3)	(4)		(5)		(6)	
	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff ((St. Err)	
a: Medicaid expansion	-0.00178	(0.0044)	-0.0035	(0.0036)	0.0044	(0.0070)	0.0008 (0.0061)	-0.0118	3 (0.0052)	* -0.0109	(0.0042) **	
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)			0.0168	(0.0058) **			0.0217 (0.0078)**			0.0061	(0.0098)	
FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%)			0.0005	(0.0057)			-0.0060 (0.0057)			0.0137	(0.0099)	
FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%)			0.0004	(0.0033)			-0.0033 (0.0040)			0.0057	(0.0045)	
b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%)			-0.0011	(0.0092)			-0.0035 (0.0095)			0.0043	(0.0169)	
b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%)			-0.0021	(0.0083)			0.0071 (0.0110)			-0.0215	(0.0167)	
b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)			0.0047	(0.0020)*			0.0081 (0.0041)*			-0.0014	(0.0066)	
Age	0.0075	(0.0041)†	0.0079	(0.0042)†	0.0144	(0.0056) **	0.0149 (0.0056)**	-0.0034	4 (0.0045)	-0.0030	(0.0045)	
Age Squared	0.0000	(0.0000)*	0.0000	(0.0000) **	0.0000) (0.0000) **	-0.0001 (0.0000)**	0.0000) (0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	
Years of educ. completed	0.0006	(0.0010)	0.0007	(0.0010)	0.0003	6 (0.0015)	0.0004 (0.0015)	0.0004	4 (0.0017)	0.0005	(0.0018)	
# of hhd members	-0.0014	(0.0014)	-0.0014	(0.0014)	-0.0035	6 (0.0017)*	-0.0035 (0.0018)*	0.0018	3 (0.0019)	0.0018	(0.0019)	
Married	-0.0095	(0.0038)*	-0.0081	(0.0035)*	-0.0093	6 (0.0047)*	-0.0074 (0.0046)	-0.0106	5 (0.0049)*	-0.0100	(0.0046)*	
Max EITC	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000) (0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	
State unemployment	-0.0011	(0.0008)	-0.0012	(0.0008)	-0.000	5 (0.0014)	-0.0007 (0.0014)	-0.0020) (0.0016)	-0.0020	(0.0016)	
State GDP (millions \$)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	
State effective min. wage	0.0023	(0.0013)†	0.0024	(0.0013)†	0.0003	6 (0.0014)	0.0003 (0.0014)	0.0060	0 (0.0023)**	0.0061	(0.0023)**	
N		44,041		44,041		27,229	27,229		16,811		16,811	
R2 (within)		0.0037		0.0051		0.0095	0.0065		0.0078		0.0082	
Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that	these linear	estrictions are e	equal to zero	s:								
a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 10	0% of FPL)		-0.0047	(0.6735)			-0.0027 (0.8181)			-0.0066	(0.6860)	
a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between 2	100-138% of	FPL)	-0.0056	(0.5049)			0.0079 (0.5409)			-0.0324	(0.0769)†	
a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between 2	138-400% of	FPL)	0.0012	(0.7676)			0.0088 (0.2450)			-0.0123	(0.1034)	

Table 4.6: OLS regression results, dependent variable is K6 score >13 severe psychological distress

Medical Professional Diagnosis of Psychological Disorder

Table 4.7 reports results from estimations of regression models where the binary dependent variable was an indicator-coded medical professional diagnosis of any psychological disorder. Estimates presented in column 1 reveal that, as measured across the entire sample, Medicaid expansion did not meaningfully change the probability of being diagnosed with a psychological disorder. Similarly, no significant expansion-induced variation in the probability of psychiatric diagnosis was identified when estimations were conducted separately with sub-samples of females and males (columns 3 and 5, respectively).

The measurements of Medicaid expansion effects within income groups revealed rather ambiguous and curious estimates. The reduction in the probability of being diagnosed with a psychiatric condition was observed only among the sample participants in the highest income group. For those respondents, Medicaid expansion resulted in 0.6 percentage point reduction in the probability of reporting doctor-diagnosed psychiatric illness (p-value=0.084, the coefficient estimate on Medicaid expansion dummy in column 2). The reason for this effect is not clear. For respondents with income below 100% of the federal poverty threshold, the state expansion of Medicaid increased the probability of being diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder by about 1.4 percentage points, an effect that is significant at the .1 level (linear combination reported in the bottom panel in column 2). While this narrative was not subjected to rigorous testing in this study, the positive association between Medicaid expansion and the probability of receiving a psychiatric illness diagnosis may reflect improved access to mental health services following the policy change due to the "welcome-mat" effect mentioned earlier. Additionally, the ACA introduced regulations that enhanced health insurance coverage against psychiatric illness. Therefore, it is possible that individuals who exhibited undiagnosed psychiatric disorders prior to the ACA and/or Medicaid expansion eventually received the proper diagnosis after enrolling under Medicaid and using their health coverage benefits. It should be acknowledged, however, that this explanation is not entirely corroborated by the measurement of the expansion effect among the primary beneficiaries of state Medicaid expansion. In this group of respondents, the expansion translated into half a percentage point increase in the probability of receiving a psychiatric illness diagnosis from a doctor, but the effect is not statistically significant at the conventional type I error levels.

In terms of the effects of other covariates, the probability of being diagnosed with a psychological disorder increases at a diminishing rate with age and decreases with marriage. There is also a positive correlation between years of education and being diagnosed with a psychological disorder.

		Full sa	ample		Females				Males			
		(1)		(2)	(3)			(4)	(5)			(6)
	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)
a: Medicaid expansion	0.00083	(0.0033)	-0.0062	(0.0036)†	0.0003 (0.0043	3)	-0.0068	3 (0.0051)	0.0017	7 (0.0043)	-0.0043	6 (0.0046)
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)			0.0161	(0.0080) *			0.0098	3 (0.0076)			0.0238	8 (0.0105)*
FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%)			0.0076	(0.0067)			0.0033	3 (0.0075)			0.0114	(0.0079)
FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%)			0.0001	(0.0038)			-0.0043	3 (0.0046)			0.0046	5 (0.0042)
b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%)			0.0202	(0.0087)*			0.0194	\$ (0.0099)*			0.0183	6 (0.0143)
b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%)			0.0116	(0.0071)†			0.0064	4 (0.0084)			0.0184	(0.0106)†
b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)			0.0102	(0.0053)†			0.0102	2 (0.0069)			0.0089	0 (0.0060)
Age	0.0119	(0.0029) ***	0.0122	(0.0028) ***	0.0163 (0.0033	3) ***	0.0163	3 (0.0033) ***	0.0065	5 (0.0047)	0.0070	0 (0.0046)
Age Squared	-0.0002	(0.0000) ***	-0.0002	(0.0000) ***	-0.0002 (0.0000	0)***	-0.0002	2 (0.0000) ***	-0.0001	(0.0000) ***	-0.0001	(0.0000) ***
Years of educ. completed	0.0027	(0.0015)†	0.0028	(0.0015)†	0.0016 (0.0016	5)	0.0017	7 (0.0016)	0.0034	(0.0026)	0.0036	6 (0.0026)
# of hhd members	-0.0016	(0.0012)	-0.0015	(0.0012)	-0.0014 (0.0019	9)	-0.0012	2 (0.0019)	-0.0019	0 (0.0014)	-0.0019	0 (0.0015)
Married	-0.0189	(0.0035) ***	-0.0165	(0.0037) ***	-0.0219 (0.0051	1)***	-0.0202	2 (0.0055)***	-0.0138	8 (0.0054)**	-0.0112	2 (0.0052)*
Max EITC	0.0000	(0.0000) ***	0.0000	(0.0000) *	0.0000 (0.0000))	0.0000) (0.0000)	0.0000) (0.0000) **	0.0000	(0.0000)
State unemployment	0.0007	(0.0012)	0.0009	(0.0012)	0.0017 (0.0017	7)	0.0018	3 (0.0017)	-0.0004	(0.0021)	-0.0003	(0.0021)
State GDP (millions \$)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000	D)†	0.0000) (0.0000)	0.0000) (0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)
State effective min. wage	0.0022	(0.0016)	0.0025	(0.0016)	0.0047 (0.0022	2)*	0.0050) (0.0023)*	-0.0009	0 (0.0017)	-0.0006	5 (0.0017)
N	(56,684		66,684	36,895			36,895		29,788		29,788
R2 (within)	(0.0630		0.0642	0.0732			0.0741		0.0548		0.0566
Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that t	hese linear res	strictions are equ	al to zeros:									
a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 100	% of FPL)		-0.0047	(0.0706)†			0.0126	5 (0.1403)			0.0140	0 (0.3069)
a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between 1	00-138% of F	PL)	-0.0056	(0.3724)			-0.0003	3 (0.9618)			0.0141	(0.1446)
a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between 1	38-400% of F	PL)	0.0012	(0.4203)			0.0035	5 (0.5925)			0.0046	5 (0.3964)

Table 4.7: OLS regression results, dependent variable is doctor diagnosed psychological condition

The PSID respondents who answer in the affirmative to the question if they were ever diagnosed by a doctor with a psychiatric condition are asked the follow-up question about the type of illness. The next two sets of regressions aim to analyze two conditions reported in response to this follow-up question, depression and anxiety disorder, both of which are observed frequently enough to warrant statistical analysis. Table 4.8 reports results from estimations of regression models where the binary dependent variable indicates the diagnosis of depression. To a large degree, the results mirror those reported above for the doctor-issued diagnosis of any psychiatric illness. As before, no evidence was found that Medicaid expansion affected the probability of being diagnosed with depression when measured for the full sample (column 1), or separately for sub-samples of females (column 3) or males (column 5).

The estimation results from specifications that included interaction effects between income group indicators and the Medicaid expansion dummy revealed important differences in the change in the probability of being diagnosed with depression across various groups of respondents. Most importantly, following Medicaid expansion, those with income between 100-138% of the federal poverty threshold experienced a one percentage point increase in the probability of being diagnosed with depression (linear restriction in the bottom panel in column 2). This effect appeared to come entirely from the male respondents for whom the magnitude of Medicaid expansion-induced increase in the probability of being diagnosed with depression was estimated at 2.5 percentage points. A statistically significant increase in the probability of depression diagnosis after state expansion of Medicaid is also observed among respondents in the 138-400% range of FPL (measured for the full sample) and among male respondents in the 0100% range of FPL. As before the plausible logical explanation for these positive effects appears to be the following two mechanisms: (1) the states that opted to expand Medicaid strengthened the provision of mental health services and (2) ACA-mandated enhanced coverage of mental health services by insurance contracts that overlapped with Medicaid expansion. The estimations results reported in Table 4.8 also shed some light on the previously documented reduction in the probability of psychiatric illness diagnosis among high-income respondents following state expansion of Medicaid benefits. While the current results do not explain the mechanism of this unexpected finding, they show that the estimate can be attributed specifically to the decrease in the likelihood of receiving a depression diagnosis among male respondents.

Table 4.8 also reveals that age and marital status are the remaining determinants of depression diagnosis in the estimation sample. Moreover, estimates suggest that experiencing an income shock leads to a much greater probability of the onset of depression.

		Full sa	ample		Fen	nales	Males			
		(1)		(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)		
	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)		
a: Medicaid expansion	0.00214	(0.0033)	-0.0070	(0.0030)*	0.0020 (0.0051)	-0.0057 (0.0054)	0.0024 (0.0040)	-0.0070 (0.0040)†		
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)			0.0128	(0.0057)*		0.0122 (0.0076)		0.0135 (0.0068)*		
FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%)			0.0112	(0.0067)†		0.0102 (0.0075)		0.0118 (0.0070)†		
FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%)			0.0022	(0.0031)		0.0002 (0.0044)		0.0040 (0.0030)		
b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%)			0.0204	(0.0088)*		0.0139 (0.0083)†		0.0260 (0.0124)*		
b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%)			0.0171	(0.0056) **		0.0051 (0.0075)		0.0324 (0.0108)**		
b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)			0.0148	(0.0042) ***		0.0137 (0.0051) **		0.0145 (0.0055)**		
Age	0.0069	(0.0025)**	0.0071	(0.0024) **	0.0107 (0.0030) ***	0.0109 (0.0029) ***	0.0019 (0.0031)	0.0021 (0.0030)		
Age Squared	-0.0001	(0.0000) ***	-0.0001	(0.0000) ***	-0.0001 (0.0000)***	-0.0001 (0.0000)***	0.0000 (0.0000)**	0.0000 (0.0000)**		
Years of educ. completed	0.0016	(0.0014)	0.0018	(0.0014)	0.0014 (0.0018)	0.0015 (0.0018)	0.0012 (0.0021)	0.0015 (0.0021)		
# of hhd members	-0.0010	(0.0010)	-0.0010	(0.0010)	-0.0015 (0.0014)	-0.0015 (0.0014)	-0.0003 (0.0013)	-0.0004 (0.0013)		
Married	-0.0215	(0.0043) ***	-0.0190	(0.0039) ***	-0.0242 (0.0045)***	-0.0218 (0.0044)***	-0.0169 (0.0065)**	-0.0144 (0.0061)*		
Max EITC	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)		
State unemployment	-0.0001	(0.0009)	0.0001	(0.0010)	0.0018 (0.0015)	0.0020 (0.0015)	-0.0025 (0.0015)†	-0.0022 (0.0015)		
State GDP (millions \$)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)		
State effective min. wage	-0.0005	(0.0011)	-0.0001	(0.0011)	0.0003 (0.0017)	0.0005 (0.0017)	-0.0012 (0.0015)	-0.0008 (0.0015)		
N		66,655		66,655	36,874	36,874	29,780	29,780		
R2 (within)		0.0459		0.0473	0.0563	0.0572	0.0373	0.0402		
Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that the	nese linear re	strictions are equa	al to zeros:							
a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 100% of FPL)				(0.1324)		0.0082 (0.4096)		0.0190 (0.1089)†		
a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between 10	00-138% of F	PL)	0.0101	(0.0422) **		-0.0005 (0.9297)		0.0254 (0.0129) *		
a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between 13	88-400% of F	PL)	0.0079	(0.0730)†		0.0080 (0.1655)		0.0075 (0.1569)		

Table 4.8: OLS regression results, dependent variable is doctor diagnosed depression

Table 4.9 reports results from estimations of regression models where the binary dependent variable is a medical professional diagnosis of anxiety disorder. The results provide perhaps the best evidence yet that the ACA Medicaid expansion led to more frequent diagnoses of mental health problems. Measured across the whole sample, Medicaid expansion increased the probability of being diagnosed with anxiety by nearly 1 percentage point, an effect statistically significant at the .05 level. Estimations conducted with sub-samples of females (column 3) and males (column 5) revealed similar magnitudes of the effect for both populations, about 1 percentage point and .8 percentage points respectively, both of which were statistically significant.

The estimation results from specifications that included interaction effects between income group indicators and the Medicaid expansion dummy revealed that the increased frequency of doctor-diagnosed anxieties following Medicaid expansion was observed primarily among low-income respondents. Those with income between 100-138% of the federal poverty threshold experienced a 2.6 percentage points increase in the probability of being diagnosed with anxiety (linear restriction in the bottom panel in column 2), and the effect appeared to be spread somewhat evenly between females and males. Female respondents with household income in the 100-138% range of the federal poverty guidelines responded to Medicaid expansion by reporting an increase in the prevalence of doctor-diagnosed anxiety in a magnitude of 2.4 percentage points (column 4). The equivalent effect among male respondents was measured at 2.7 percentage points (column 6). These effects are statistically significant for both sub-groups. Moreover, Medicaid expansion increased the probability of being diagnosed with anxiety among the lowest-income respondents of both sexes, as well as among males with income in the 138-400% range of the FPL. Finally, similarly to the determinants of doctor-diagnosed depression discussed above, the probability of being diagnosed with anxiety increases with age and decreases after marriage.

	Full sample				Fen	nales	Males			
	(1)		(2)		(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)		
	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)		
a: Medicaid expansion	0.0089	(0.0035)*	0.0010	(0.0034)	0.0099 (0.0044)*	0.0011 (0.0051)	0.008 (0.0043)†	0.0032 (0.0040)		
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)			-0.0018	(0.0038)		-0.0025 (0.0076)		-0.0006 (0.0051)		
FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%)			-0.0074	(0.0041)†		-0.0087 (0.0070)		-0.0075 (0.0048)		
FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%)			-0.0037	(0.0020)†		-0.0082 (0.0034)*		0.0016 (0.0029)		
b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%)			0.0332	(0.0120) **		0.0357 (0.0127)**		0.0218 (0.0132)†		
b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%)			0.0252	(0.0092) **		0.0231 (0.0102)*		0.0241 (0.0102)*		
b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)			0.0071	(0.0046)		0.0069 (0.0065)		0.0044 (0.0043)		
Age	0.0102	(0.0017) ***	0.0099	(0.0017) ***	0.0146 (0.0023) ***	0.0143 (0.0023) ***	0.0043 (0.0024)†	0.0041 (0.0025)†		
Age Squared	-0.0001	(0.0000) ***	-0.0001	(0.0000) ***	-0.0002 (0.0000)***	-0.0002 (0.0000)***	-0.0001 (0.0000)***	-0.0001 (0.0000)***		
Years of educ. completed	0.0018	(0.0011)	0.0019	(0.0011)†	0.0013 (0.0015)	0.0014 (0.0015)	0.0013 (0.0013)	0.0014 (0.0013)		
# of hhd members	-0.0011	(0.0013)	-0.0008	(0.0013)	0.0002 (0.0019)	0.0006 (0.0019)	-0.0029 (0.0016)†	-0.0029 (0.0016)†		
Married	-0.0137	(0.0036) ***	-0.0128	(0.0032) ***	-0.0212 (0.0049)***	-0.0207 (0.0047)***	-0.0015 (0.0050)	-0.0007 (0.0049)		
Max EITC	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)†	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)		
State unemployment	0.0007	(0.0010)	0.0010	(0.0010)	0.0004 (0.0015)	0.0008 (0.0015)	0.0013 (0.0014)	0.0015 (0.0014)		
State GDP (millions \$)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000) †	0.0000 (0.0000)*		
State effective min. wage	0.0003	(0.0012)	0.0006	(0.0011)	0.0015 (0.0017)	0.0018 (0.0017)	-0.0008 (0.0013)	-0.0006 (0.0013)		
N		66,651		66,651	36,872	36,872	29,778	29,778		
R2 (within)		0.0490		0.0504	0.0664	0.0680	0.0320	0.0332		
Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that these linear restrictions are equal to zeros:										
a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 100% of FPL)			0.0343	(0.0023) **		0.0368 (0.0009) ***		0.0250 (0.0734)†		
a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between 100-138% of FPL)			0.0262	(0.0020) **		0.0243 (0.0048)**		0.0273 (0.0166) *		
a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between 138-400% of FPL)			0.0081	(0.0636)†		0.0080 (0.1778)		0.0077 (0.0801)†		

Table 4.9: OLS regression results, dependent variable is doctor diagnosed anxiety

Medical Professional Diagnosis of Permanent Memory Loss or Mental Ability

The last type of medical condition analyzed in this study is the doctor-diagnosed permanent loss of memory or mental ability. This condition is measured as an indicator-coded affirmative response to the question: *"Has a doctor or other health professional EVER told (you/spouse/partner) that (you/he/she) had...) permanent loss of memory or mental ability?"*. The presentation of results in Table 4.10 follows a familiar pattern, where results are presented separately for the full sample and sub-samples of females and males, both for model specifications that intend to capture the overall effect of Medicaid expansion, as well as model specifications that examine the differential effects by income groups. Measured across the whole sample, Medicaid expansion increased the probability of being diagnosed with permanent loss of memory or mental ability by a non-significant .1 percentage points. Similarly, estimations conducted with sub-samples of females (column 3) and males (column 5) produced non-significant estimates only.

	Full sample					Females	Males			
		(1)		(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)		
	Coeff ((St. Err)	Coeff	(St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)	Coeff (St. Err)		
a: Medicaid expansion	0.0015	(0.0018)	-0.0087	(0.0019) ***	0.0011 (0.0022	-0.0097 (0.0025) ***	0.0024 (0.0025)	-0.0069 (0.0020)***		
FPL < 100% (ref: 400+%)			0.0017	(0.0028)		0.0017 (0.0029)		0.0014 (0.0040)		
FPL 100-138% (ref: 400+%)			-0.0002	(0.0027)		0.0000 (0.0033)		-0.0009 (0.0038)		
FPL 138-400% (ref: 400+%)			-0.0005	(0.0011)		0.0000 (0.0014)		-0.0012 (0.0015)		
b1: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL < 100%)			0.0359	(0.0093) ***		0.0361 (0.0094)***		0.0353 (0.0121)**		
b2: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 100-138%)			0.0298	(0.0064) ***		0.0254 (0.0059)***		0.0373 (0.0123)**		
b3: (Medicaid exp.) * (FPL 138-400%)			0.0114	(0.0027) ***		0.0112 (0.0030) ***		0.0116 (0.0034)***		
Age	0.0021	(0.0016)	0.0019	(0.0016)	0.0032 (0.0023) 0.0031 (0.0023)	0.0007 (0.0015)	0.0006 (0.0015)		
Age Squared	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000) †	0.0000 (0.0000) 0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)		
Years of educ. completed	-0.0010	(0.0008)	-0.0008	(0.0008)	-0.0011 (0.0008	-0.0009 (0.0008)	-0.0009 (0.0014)	-0.0007 (0.0014)		
# of hhd members	-0.0025	(0.0007) ***	-0.0023	(0.0007) ***	-0.0025 (0.0009)** -0.0023 (0.0010)*	-0.0025 (0.0010)*	-0.0023 (0.0010)*		
Married	-0.0014	(0.0024)	0.0003	(0.0022)	-0.0017 (0.0031) 0.0002 (0.0029)	-0.0017 (0.0031)	-0.0003 (0.0029)		
Max EITC	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000	(0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000) 0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)†	0.0000 (0.0000)		
State unemployment	-0.0010	(0.0006) †	-0.0006	(0.0006)	-0.0006 (0.0008	-0.0002 (0.0009)	-0.0015 (0.0009)	-0.0012 (0.0009)		
State GDP (millions \$)	0.0000	(0.0000)*	0.0000	(0.0000) *	0.0000 (0.0000)* 0.0000 (0.0000)*	0.0000 (0.0000)	0.0000 (0.0000)		
State effective min. wage	0.0006	(0.0007)	0.0010	(0.0007)	0.0013 (0.0011) 0.0017 (0.0011)	-0.0004 (0.0007)	0.0000 (0.0007)		
N		66,686		66,651	36,890) 36,872	29,795	29,795		
R2 (within)		0.0171		0.0224	0.0195	5 0.0244	0.0171	0.0230		
Linear restrictions (and p-values) of tests that these linear restrictions are equal to zeros:										
a+b1 (Effect of expansion for those below 100% of FPL)			0.0272	(0.0011) **		0.0264 (0.0015)*		0.0284 (0.0125)*		
a+b2 (Effect of expansion for those between 100-138% of FPL)			0.0211	(0.0001) ***		0.0158 (0.0018)*		0.0303 (0.0084) **		
a+b3 (Effect of expansion for those between 138-400% of FPL)			0.0028	(0.2199)		0.0015 (0.5768)		0.0046 (0.1467)		

Table 4.10: OLS regression results, dependent variable diagnosed with psychological disorder

The estimation results from specifications that included interaction effects between income group indicators and the Medicaid expansion dummy again revealed that the Medicaid expansion increased the likelihood of reporting doctor-issued diagnoses of the loss of mental capacity among low-income groups that constitute the target population for Medicaid. Following Medicaid expansion, those with incomes between 100-138% of the federal poverty threshold experienced a 2.1 percentage points increase in the probability of being diagnosed with permanent memory loss or mental ability (linear restriction in the bottom panel in column 2). The estimated effect for males was about twice the magnitude of the estimated effect for females. Following Medicaid expansion, female respondents with household incomes in the 100-138% range of the federal poverty guidelines reported an increase in the probability of being diagnosed with a permanent loss of mental ability in the magnitude of 1.6 percentage points (column 4). The equivalent effect for male respondents was measured at 3 percentage points (column 6). Moreover, respondents with incomes in the 0-100% range of FPL also responded to Medicaid expansion with about a 2.7 percentage point increase in the likelihood of being handed a similar diagnosis, and this effect was nearly even for both sexes. Similarly, to results noted for other mental health conditions, respondents with the highest income group experienced a small but statistically significant decrease in being diagnosed with permanent loss of memory or mental ability.

In terms of the effects of other covariates, the probability of being diagnosed with permanent loss of memory or mental ability is negatively correlated to the number of people in the household.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS

5.1 SUMMARY

Building on prior scholarly research, I examined the impact of Medicaid expansion on mental health. Given that nearly 20% of the United States population suffers from mental illness as well as the negative impact mental health can have on physical health, employment status, and educational attainment, understanding the role in having health insurance is critical (National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2022). Ownership of health insurance results in improved access to a primary care physician, increased preventative screenings, and improved health outcomes (Baicker, et al., 2013).

To measure the effect of Medicaid expansion, I examined how the values of various metrics of mental health changed before and after the respondent's state of residence expanded this insurance program. I measured the variation in mental health by adjusting for sociodemographic characteristics both for the full sample, as well as for groups of respondents delineated by the criteria of eligibility for expanded Medicaid or ACA subsidies. I proposed that access to Medicaid expansion would result in a reduction in the probability of being uninsured, Medicaid expansion would result in an increased probability of having Medicaid insurance, and that having health insurance would increase demand and utilization of health care services and would decrease overall stress. I expected to find respondents who were newly eligible for health insurance through Medicaid expansion would see a reduction in mental health symptoms. The results point to multi-faceted conclusions.
The study resulted in several key findings. First, the probability of being uninsured decreased as a result of Medicaid expansion for respondents in the target population, i.e. those with household incomes in the 100-138% federal poverty level. For those in the 100-138% federal poverty limit group as well as those previously eligible (i.e., those below 100% of the federal poverty limit), Medicaid expansion increased the probability of being enrolled in Medicaid. Self-reported life satisfaction increased after state expansion of Medicaid among respondents targeted by the policy overhaul (i.e., those with household income between 100-138% of the federal poverty level). While Medicaid expansion had no statistically significant impact on self-reported 6-item Kessler psychological distress score measured 0-24, it did reduce the probability of having severe psychological distress, a binary outcome of having a Kessler psychological distress score above 13, for males in the target population. There was no evidence that Medicaid expansion affected the probability of being diagnosed with a psychological condition by a professional. However, it was positively associated with the probability of being diagnosed with depression, anxiety and memory loss or mental ability by a health care professional. Overall, the results revealed a nuanced and complex effect of Medicaid expansion on mental well-being. Despite some evidence that the target recipients of Medicaid expansion benefited from an increase in self-reported life satisfaction, little evidence was found in favor of a meaningful change in the psychological distress symptoms as measured by the validated 6-item Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K6). This finding diverges from the results showing an increased prevalence of medical diagnoses of depression or anxiety disorders issued by medical professionals. The post-expansion rise in the probability of being diagnosed with depression or anxiety detected not only among the target population of the Medicaid expansion but also among those with incomes below or above the eligibility thresholds, suggests alternative explanations for the increased prevalence of diagnoses.

The complex results may be explained by several factors, including: 1) the "welcome mat" effect 2) an increase in demand for care due to newly attained health insurance and 3) influence of the provision in the ACA that includes mental health as an essential health benefit. The "welcome mat" effect may account for the statistically significant increase in Medicaid enrollees in the target population, the 100-138% the federal poverty level group, as well as those in the income group already eligible for Medicaid (0-100% the federal poverty level). Previous studies showed significant increases in enrollment among the intended beneficiaries of policy change but also for individuals who were previously eligible for Medicaid enroll due to an increase in media al., 2017; Hudson & Moriya, 2017). This can be attributed to the "welcome mat" effect, which is when individuals who were previously eligible for Medicaid enroll due to an increase in media coverage of the policy, enhanced outreach by federal and state advocates and a simpler application process to obtain Medicaid (Hudson & Moriya, 2017).

In addition to the "welcome mat" effect, additional key findings addressed in Chapter 4 may be influenced by the broader provisions included in ACA, including a focus on mental health. Prior to the implementation of the ACA, laws permitted individual or small-group health plans to omit mental health care (Palanker et al., 2018). The ACA emphasized the focus on mental health by including it as one of the ten essential benefits provided by insurance contracts. This meant that all health plans under the ACA were required to include benefits for mental health and substance abuse coverage. Thus, resulting in behavioral health coverage for anyone regardless of income levels or Medicaid eligibility. Studies reviewing the impact of this essential benefit found an increase in health insurance coverage for young adults with mental health conditions, increased access to care, and improved mental well-being for young adults (Cowell et al., 2018; Shane & Wehby, 2018; Winkelman & Chang, 2018). This may affect the results in Chapter 4 when specifically looking at the variables related to doctor diagnosed psychological disorders specifically, depression, anxiety, and permanent memory loss. For newly diagnosed depression, anxiety and/or permanent memory loss, the findings were significant for all income groups beside the target population for Medicaid expansion, those in the 100-138% FPL.

In conjunction with the changes to insurance contracts to include mental health care, there was a shift within common medical practices to include both anxiety and depression screenings (Siu et al., 2016). Guaranteed insurance coverage for behavioral health and increased depression and anxiety screenings by medical providers may account for the significant differences in the probability of being diagnosed with one or more of these psychological conditions. Therefore, Medicaid expansion may not be fully responsible for these results. An additional explanation for the increased probability of being diagnosed with a psychological condition may be an increased demand for services by those who are newly eligible for health insurance (Gerfin, 2019). Previous research on the ACA's Medicaid expansion resulted in improved access to care and increased rates of individuals having a source of regular care (Sommers, et al., 2014, Simon et al., 2017). In addition to increased rates of individuals having a regular physician, individuals increased preventative health visits, lab tests and cancer screenings (Sommers, et al., 2014, Simon et al., 2017). For those who were newly diagnosed, increased preventative screenings may result in a health care professional diagnosis of depression, anxiety, or permanent memory loss with access to treatment, regardless of income range.

Limitations of the research

Limitations to the research exist including limited variable selection for the PSID data set. To assess changes to mental health prior to and after the implementation of the Medicaid expansion, I used a comprehensive set of variables to address the multifaceted components of mental health including, life satisfaction, self-reported psychological distress, and being diagnosed with a mental health condition (depression, anxiety, permanent memory loss or mental ability). These variables were used to determine if there was, in fact, a causal relationship between Medicaid expansion and mental health. The results were mixed among the variables, suggesting there is an impact however, additional or alternative variables present in another dataset may augment the research to better understand if there has been a change in demand for services and impact of any subsequent treatment. In addition, to limitations with the dataset, there was no analysis for those who were eligible for health insurance subsidies offered through the ACA for those in the 138-400% FPL. As noted in Chapter 4, this income group had significant changes in diagnosis of psychological conditions.

Implications

The evidence from this study implies the solution to improving mental health through public policies is complex and requires a multi-faceted approach. Ultimately, research addressing the impact of policies, such as the ACA, on mental health is essential for the individuals behind the data. This is the practical significance of the work, not just the statistically significant data. Public policy that increases health insurance access, improve affordability of care and treatment and support health care parity for mental health and substance abuse issues can improve overall life satisfaction and provide diagnosis of mental conditions prior to treatment.

Future Research

The findings from this study offer an opportunity to conduct future research to address some of the limitations as well as further develop a broader understanding of impact of Medicaid expansion on mental health. A further and more in-depth comparative analysis of males and females would provide clarity on whether the differences were significant. Researching whether respondents sought treatment or continued treatment after diagnosis of a psychological condition would provide additional evidence whether Medicaid affects mental health.

REFERENCES

- Allen, H., Baicker, K., Finkelstein, A., Taubman, S., Wright, B. J., & the Oregon Health Study Group. (2010). What The Oregon Health Study Can Tell Us About Expanding Medicaid. *Health Affairs*, 29(8), 1498–1506. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0191
- Asebedo, S. D., & Wilmarth, M. J. (2017). Does How We Feel About Financial Strain Matter for Mental Health? *Journal of Financial Therapy*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.4148/1944-9771.1130
- Baicker, K., Allen, H. L., Wright, B. J., Taubman, S. L., & Finkelstein, A. N. (2018). The Effect of Medicaid on Management of Depression: Evidence From the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment: The Effect of Medicaid on Management of Depression. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 96(1), 29–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12311
- Baicker, K., Taubman, S. L., Allen, H. L., Bernstein, M., Gruber, J. H., Newhouse, J. P.,
 Schneider, E. C., Wright, B. J., Zaslavsky, A. M., & Finkelstein, A. N. (2013). The
 Oregon Experiment—Effects of Medicaid on Clinical Outcomes. *New England Journal* of Medicine, 368(18), 1713–1722. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa1212321
- Baicker, Katherine & Finkelstein, Amy. (n.d.). Oregon Health Insurance Experiment. NBER. https://www.nber.org/programs-projects/projects-and-centers/oregon-health-insuranceexperiment
- Baldwin, M. L., & Marcus, S. C. (2007). Labor Market Outcomes of Persons with Mental Disorders. *Industrial Relations*, 46(3), 481–510. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-232X.2007.00478.x

- Blumenthal, D., & Abrams, M. (2020). The Affordable Care Act at 10 Years—Payment and Delivery System Reforms. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(11), 1057–1063. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMhpr1916092
- Brook, R. H., Keeler, E. B., Lohr, K. N., Newhouse, J. P., Ware, J. E., Rogers, W. H., Davies, A. R., Sherbourne, C. D., Goldberg, G. A., Camp, P., Kamberg, C., Leibowitz, A., Keesey, J., & Reboussin, D. (2006). *The Health Insurance Experiment: A Classic RAND Study Speaks to the Current Health Care Reform Debate*. RAND Corporation. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_briefs/RB9174.html
- Buchmueller, T. C., Levy, H., & Valletta, R. G. (2021). Medicaid Expansion and the Unemployed. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 39(S2), S575–S617. https://doi.org/10.1086/712478
- Castaneda, M. A., & Saygili, M. (2016). The health conditions and the health care consumption of the uninsured. *Health Economics Review*, 6(1), 55. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13561-016-0137-z
- Christopher, A. S., McCormick, D., Woolhandler, S., Himmelstein, D. U., Bor, D. H., & Wilper,
 A. P. (2016). Access to Care and Chronic Disease Outcomes Among Medicaid-Insured
 Persons Versus the Uninsured. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(1), 63–69.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302925
- Collins, Sara R., Bhupal, Herman, K., & Doty, Michelle M. (2019). *Health Insurance Coverage Eight Years After the ACA*. https://doi.org/10.26099/penv-q932
- Courtemanche, C., Marton, J., Ukert, B., Yelowitz, A., & Zapata, D. (2017). Early Impacts of the Affordable Care Act on Health Insurance Coverage in Medicaid Expansion and Non-

Expansion States. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, *36*(1), 178–210. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.21961

- Cowan, B. W., & Hao, Z. (2021). Medicaid expansion and the mental health of college students. *Health Economics*, *30*(6), 1306–1327. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.4256
- Cowell, A. J., Prakash, S., Jones, E., Barnosky, A., & Wedehase, B. (2018). Behavioral Health Coverage In The Individual Market Increased After ACA Parity Requirements. *Health Affairs*, 37(7), 1153–1159. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1517
- Finkelstein, A., Taubman, S., Wright, B., Bernstein, M., Gruber, J., Newhouse, J. P., Allen, H.,
 Baicker, K., & Oregon Health Study Group. (2012). The Oregon Health Insurance
 Experiment: Evidence from the First Year*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *127*(3), 1057–1106. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjs020
- Follman, Joseph F. (1963). Medical care and health insurance: A study in social progress.
 Richard D. Irwin, Inc. https://irs.princeton.edu/medical-care-and-health-insurance-study-social-progress
- Frean, M., Gruber, J., & Sommers, B. D. (2017). Premium subsidies, the mandate, and Medicaid expansion: Coverage effects of the Affordable Care Act. *Journal of Health Economics*, 53, 72–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.02.004
- Gaudette, É., Pauley, G. C., & Zissimopoulos, J. M. (2018). Lifetime Consequences of Early-Life and Midlife Access to Health Insurance: A Review. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 75(6), 655–720. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558717740444
- Gerfin, M. (2019). Health Insurance and the Demand for Healthcare. In M. Gerfin, Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Economics and Finance. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190625979.013.257

- Ghosh, A., Simon, K., & Sommers, B. D. (2019). The Effect of Health Insurance on Prescription
 Drug Use Among Low-Income Adults:Evidence from Recent Medicaid Expansions.
 Journal of Health Economics, 63, 64–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2018.11.002
- Gold, R., Bailey, S. R., O'Malley, J. P., Hoopes, M. J., Cowburn, S., Marino, M., Heintzman, J., Nelson, C., Fortmann, S. P., & DeVoe, J. E. (2014). Estimating Demand for Care After a Medicaid Expansion: Lessons From Oregon. *Journal of Ambulatory Care Management*, *37*(4), 282–292. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000023
- Hadley, J. (2007). Insurance coverage, medical care use, and short-term health changes following an unintentional injury or the onset of a chronic condition. *JAMA*, 297(10), 1073–1084. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.297.10.1073
- Hall, M. (2018). Do States Regret Expanding Medicaid. http://news.law.wfu.edu/files/2018/03/Medicaid-regret-Issue-brief.pdf
- Hamel, Liz, Norton, Mira, Karen Pollitz, Larry Levitt, Gary Claxton, & Mollyann Brodie.
 (2016). *The Burden of Medical Debt: Results from the Kaiser Family Foundation/New York Times Medical Bills Survey*. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. https://www.
 kff. org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/8806-the-burden-of-medical-debt-results-fromthekaiser-family-foundation-new-york-times-medical-bills-survey. pdf.
- Harwood, H., Ameen, A., Denmead, G., Englert, E., Fountain, D., & Livermore, G. (1992). The economic cost of mental illness, 1992. National Institute of Mental Health.
- Hudson, J. L., & Moriya, A. S. (2017). Medicaid Expansion For Adults Had Measurable
 'Welcome Mat' Effects On Their Children. *Health Affairs*, *36*(9), 1643–1651. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0347

- Insel, T. R., Collins, P. Y., & Hyman, S. E. (2015, December 14). Darkness Invisible. Foreign Affairs, January/February 2015. https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/africa/darknessinvisible
- Johnson, D. S., McGonagle, K. A., Freedman, V. A., & Sastry, N. (2018). Fifty Years of the Panel Study of Income Dynamics: Past, Present, and Future. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 680(1), 9–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716218809363
- Kaiser Family Foundation. (2022a). *Status of State Action on the Medicaid Expansion Decision*. KFF. https://www.kff.org/health-reform/state-indicator/state-activity-around-expandingmedicaid-under-the-affordable-care-act/
- Kaiser Family Foundation. (2022b, October 28). *Health Insurance Coverage of the Total Population*. Health Insurance Coverage of the Total Population. https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/total-population/
- Keeler, E. B. (1983). How Cost Sharing Reduced Medical Spending of Participants in the Health Insurance Experiment. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 249(16), 2220. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1983.03330400066026
- Kessler, R. C., Merikangas, K. R., & Wang, P. S. (2008). The Prevalence and Correlates of Workplace Depression in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 50(4), 381–390. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0b013e31816ba9b8
- Kessler, Ronald K. & Mroczek, Daniel K. (1992). An update of the development of mental health screening scales for the US National Health Interview Study. (No. 31118–5). University of Michigan, Survey Research Center of the Institute for Social Research.

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?&title=An%20update%20of%20the%20devel opment%20of%20mental%20health%20screening%20scales%20for%20the%20US%20n ational%20health%20interview%20study&publication_year=1992&author=Kessler%2C R&author=Mroczek%2CD

- Kirzinger, Ashley & Munana, Cailey. (2019). KFF Health Tracking Poll January 2019: The Public On Next Steps For The ACA And Proposals To Expand Coverage. Kaiser Family Foundation. https://www.kff.org/health-reform/poll-finding/kff-health-tracking-polljanuary-2019/
- Kolstad, J., & Kowalski, A. (2012). Mandate-Based Health Reform and the Labor Market: Evidence from the Massachusetts Reform (No. w17933; p. w17933). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w17933
- Lasser, K. E., Hanchate, A. D., McCormick, D., Manze, M. G., Chu, C., & Kressin, N. R.
 (2014). The effect of Massachusetts health reform on 30 day hospital readmissions:
 Retrospective analysis of hospital episode statistics. *BMJ*, *348*(March), g2329–g2329.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g2329
- Lee, H., & Porell, F. W. (2020). The Effect of the Affordable Care Act Medicaid Expansion on Disparities in Access to Care and Health Status. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 77(5), 461–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558718808709
- Levy, H., & Meltzer, D. (2008). The Impact of Health Insurance on Health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 29(1), 399–409.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.28.021406.144042

- Levy, Helen & Meltzer, David. (2004). What Do We Really Know about Whether Health Insurance Affects Health. In *Health Policy and the Uninsured: Setting the Agenda*. Urban Institute Press.
- Liang, H., Beydoun, M. A., & Eid, S. M. (2019). Health needs, utilization of services and access to care among Medicaid and uninsured patients with chronic disease in health centres. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 24(3), 172–181. https://doi.org/10.1177/1355819619836130
- Margerison, C. E., MacCallum, C. L., Chen, J., Zamani-Hank, Y., & Kaestner, R. (2020).
 Impacts of Medicaid Expansion on Health Among Women of Reproductive Age. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 58(1), 1–11.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2019.08.019
- Martinez, M. E. & Cohen, Robin A. (2012). *Health Insurance Coverage: Early Release of Estimates From the National Health Interview Survey, January–September 2012.*National Center for Health Statistics.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/earlyrelease/insur201303.pdf

- Mazumder, B., & Miller, S. (2016). The Effects of the Massachusetts Health Reform on Household Financial Distress. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 8(3), 284– 313. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.20150045
- McMorrow, S., Gates, J. A., Long, S. K., & Kenney, G. M. (2017). Medicaid Expansion Increased Coverage, Improved Affordability, And Reduced Psychological Distress For Low-Income Parents. *Health Affairs*, *36*(5), 808–818. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1650

Mendes De Leon, C. F., Rapp, S. S., & Kasl, S. V. (1994). Financial Strain and Symptoms of Depression in a Community Sample of Elderly Men and Women: A Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 6(4), 448–468.

https://doi.org/10.1177/089826439400600402

Mental Health America. (2020). *The State of Mental Health in America*. Mental Health America. https://mhanational.org/issues/state-mental-health-america

Michalopoulos, C., Wittenburg, D., Israel, D. A. R., Schore, J., Warren, A., Zutshi, A.,
Freedman, S., & Schwartz, L. (2011). *The Accelerated Benefits Demonstration and Evaluation Project: Impacts on Health and Employment at Twelve Months* (Vol 1.).
MDRC. https://www.mdrc.org/sites/default/files/full_528.pdf

- Miller, S., & Wherry, L. R. (2019). Four Years Later: Insurance Coverage and Access to Care Continue to Diverge between ACA Medicaid Expansion and Non-Expansion States. AEA Papers and Proceedings, 109, 327–333. https://doi.org/10.1257/pandp.20191046
- Mitra, S., & Jones, K. (2017). The impact of recent mental health changes on employment: New evidence from longitudinal data. *Applied Economics*, 49(1), 96–109. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2016.1192274
- National Alliance on Mental Illness. (2022). *Mental Health by the Numbers*. National Alliance on Mental Illness. https://www.nami.org/mhstats
- National Institute on Mental Health. (2022, January). *Mental Illness*. National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH). https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness
- Newhouse, J. P. (Ed.). (1996). Free for all? Lessons from the RAND Health Insurance Experiment (2. printing). Harvard Univ. Press.

Oberlander, J. (2009). Great Expectations—The Obama Administration and Health Care Reform. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *360*(4), 321–323. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp0809584

Oberlander, J. (2010). Long Time Coming: Why Health Reform Finally Passed. *Health Affairs*, 29(6), 1112–1116. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0447

Olfson, M. (2016). Building The Mental Health Workforce Capacity Needed To Treat Adults With Serious Mental Illnesses. *Health Affairs*, *35*(6), 983–990. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1619

- Pollack, H., & Kronebusch, K. (2008). Health Insurance and Vulnerable Populations. *Economic Research Initiative on the Uninsured*, *ERIU Working Paper 5*. http://www.rwjf-eriu.org/pdf/wp5.pdf
- Quesnel-Vallée, A. (2004). Is it Really Worse to Have Public Health Insurance Than to Have No Insurance at All? Health Insurance and Adult Health in the United States. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *45*(4), 376–392.

https://doi.org/10.1177/002214650404500402

- Rice, D. P., Kelman, S., & Miller, L. S. (1991). The economic cost of alcohol abuse. *Alcohol Health & Research World*, *15*, 307–316.
- Robson, D., & Gray, R. (2007). Serious mental illness and physical health problems: A discussion paper. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 44(3), 457–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2006.07.013
- Rowan, K., McAlpine, D. D., & Blewett, L. A. (2013). Access And Cost Barriers To Mental Health Care, By Insurance Status, 1999–2010. *Health Affairs*, 32(10), 1723–1730. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0133

 Shane, D. M., & Wehby, G. L. (2018). Higher Benefit for Greater Need: Understanding Changes in Mental Well-being of Young Adults Following the ACA Dependent Coverage Mandate. *The Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics*, 21(4), 171–180.

Simon, K., Soni, A., & Cawley, J. (2017). The Impact of Health Insurance on Preventive Care and Health Behaviors: Evidence from the First Two Years of the ACA Medicaid Expansions: Impact of Health Insurance on Preventive Care and Health Behaviors. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, *36*(2), 390–417. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.21972

Siu, A. L., and the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF), Bibbins-Domingo, K.,
Grossman, D. C., Baumann, L. C., Davidson, K. W., Ebell, M., García, F. A. R., Gillman,
M., Herzstein, J., Kemper, A. R., Krist, A. H., Kurth, A. E., Owens, D. K., Phillips, W.
R., Phipps, M. G., & Pignone, M. P. (2016). Screening for depression in adults: US
Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation statement. *JAMA*, *315*(4), 380.
https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.18392

- Sloss, E. M., Keeler, E. B., Brook, R. H., Operskalski, B. H., Goldberg, G. A., & Newhouse, J. P. (1987). Effect of a health maintenance organization on physiologic health. Results from a randomized trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *106*(1), 130–138. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-106-1-130
- Sommers, B. D., Baicker, K., & Epstein, A. M. (2012). Mortality and Access to Care among Adults after State Medicaid Expansions. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 367(11), 1025–1034. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa1202099
- Sommers, B. D., Blendon, R. J., Orav, E. J., & Epstein, A. M. (2016). Changes in Utilization and Health Among Low-Income Adults After Medicaid Expansion or Expanded Private

Insurance. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *176*(10), 1501. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.4419

- Sommers, B. D., Gunja, M. Z., Finegold, K., & Musco, T. (2015). Changes in Self-reported Insurance Coverage, Access to Care, and Health Under the Affordable Care Act. JAMA, 314(4), 366. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.8421
- Sommers, B. D., Kenney, G. M., & Epstein, A. M. (2014). New Evidence On The Affordable Care Act: Coverage Impacts Of Early Medicaid Expansions. *Health Affairs*, 33(1), 78– 87. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1087
- Sommers, B. D., Maylone, B., Blendon, R. J., Orav, E. J., & Epstein, A. M. (2017). Three-Year Impacts Of The Affordable Care Act: Improved Medical Care And Health Among Low-Income Adults. *Health Affairs*, 36(6), 1119–1128. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0293
- Taubman, S. L., Allen, H. L., Wright, B. J., Baicker, K., & Finkelstein, A. N. (2014). Medicaid Increases Emergency-Department Use: Evidence from Oregon's Health Insurance Experiment. *Science*, 343(6168), 263–268. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1246183
- Tolbert, J., Orgera, K., Singer, N., & Damico, A. (2019). Key Facts about the Uninsured Population. Kaiser Family Foundation. https://files.kff.org/attachment//fact-sheet-keyfacts-about-the-uninsured-population
- Tran, N. L. T., Wassmer, R. W., & Lascher, E. L. (2017). The Health Insurance and Life Satisfaction Connection. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 18(2), 409–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-016-9729-x
- U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (n.d.). *Affordable Care Act (ACA)*. HealthCare.Gov. https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/affordable-care-act

- Usher, M. G., Fanning, C., Fang, V. W., Carroll, M., Parikh, A., Joseph, A., & Herrigel, D.
 (2018). Insurance Coverage Predicts Mortality in Patients Transferred Between
 Hospitals: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *33*(12), 2078–2084. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-018-4687-0
- Vinokur, A. D., Price, R. H., & Caplan, R. D. (1996). Hard times and hurtful partners: How financial strain affects depression and relationship satisfaction of unemployed persons and their spouses. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71(1), 166–179. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.71.1.166
- Walker, E. R., Cummings, J. R., Hockenberry, J. M., & Druss, B. G. (2015). Insurance Status, Use of Mental Health Services, and Unmet Need for Mental Health Care in the United States. *Psychiatric Services*, 66(6), 578–584. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201400248
- Wherry, L. R., & Miller, S. (2016). Early Coverage, Access, Utilization, and Health Effects Associated With the Affordable Care Act Medicaid Expansions: A Quasi-experimental Study. Annals of Internal Medicine, 164(12), 795. https://doi.org/10.7326/M15-2234
- Winkelman, T. N. A., & Chang, V. W. (2018). Medicaid Expansion, Mental Health, and Access to Care among Childless Adults with and without Chronic Conditions. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 33(3), 376–383. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-017-4217-5